IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1985

Evaluating alcohol education programming strategies within a university residence hall environment

William J. Zeller *Iowa State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd

Part of the <u>Higher Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Higher Education and Teaching Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Zeller, William J., "Evaluating alcohol education programming strategies within a university residence hall environment" (1985). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 7900. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/7900

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This reproduction was made from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technology has been used to photograph and reproduce this document, the quality of the reproduction is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help clarify markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark, it is an indication of either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, duplicate copy, or copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed. For blurred pages, a good image of the page can be found in the adjacent frame. If copyrighted materials were deleted, a target note will appear listing the pages in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed, a definite method of "sectioning" the material has been followed. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. If necessary, sectioning is continued again—beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For illustrations that cannot be satisfactorily reproduced by xerographic means, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and inserted into your xerographic copy. These prints are available upon request from the Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases the best available copy has been filmed.

University Microfilms International 300 N. Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, MI 48106 Zeller, William J.

EVALUATING ALCOHOL EDUCATION PROGRAMMING STRATEGIES WITHIN A UNIVERSITY RESIDENCE HALL ENVIRONMENT

Iowa State University

Ph.D. 1985

University
Microfilms
International 300 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106

Evaluating alcohol education programming strategies within a university residence hall environment

bу

William J. Zeller

A Dissertation Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department: Professional Studies in Education

Major: Education (Higher Education)

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION	1	
Statement of the Problem	2	
Residence hall characteristics at ISU	4	
Purpose of the Study	6	
Research Hypotheses	7	
Limitations	8	
Definitions	10	
CHAPTER TWO - REVIEW OF LITERATURE	12	
Alcohol Use Within College Communities	12	
Reasons for alcohol use and abuse	16	
Environmental Impact	17	
Influence of peers	17	
Sub-cultural environmental factors	21	
Residential environments and drinking behaviors	25	
Demographic characteristics of drinkers	26	
Environmental Assessment Strategies	29	
. Residence hall environments	33	
Architectural factors	34	
Organizational factors	35	
Alcohol Education Program Evaluation	37	
Summary	40	
CHAPTER THREE - METHODOLOGY		
Item Development	42	
Survey development and layout	43	

Research design and sample selection	44
Distribution of the survey	45
Alcohol Education Program	46
Data Preparation	47
Reliability and validity	47
Statistical preparation	48
CHAPTER FOUR - PRESENTATION OF THE DATA ANALYSIS	50
Sample	50
Non drinkers response	55
Drinkers response	56
Findings Related to the Hypotheses	62
Summary of Findings	78
CHAPTER FIVE - SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	80
Findings	81
Conclusions	88
Implications	88
Recommendations for Further Study	90
LITERATURE UPDATE	92
REFERENCES	95
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	99
APPENDIX A. SURVEY INSTRUMENT	100
APPENDIX B. CORRESPONDENCE	114

LIST OF TABLES

			Page
Table	1:	Sample size and distribution of respondents by residence hall complex	51
Table	2:	Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by sex	52
Table	3:	Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by academic classification	53
Table	4:	Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by floor types	54
Table	5:	Distribution of pre and post-test respondents who participated in alcohol education programs	55
Table	6:	Pre and post-test distribution of reasons why non-drinkers chose not to drink	56
Table	7:	Distribution of alcoholic beverages used most often by the pre and post-test respondents	57
Table	8:	Pre-test distribution of year in school when respondent began drinking	59
Table	9:	Cross tabulation of classification and year in college in which respondents reported beginning drinking	60
Table	10:	Pre-test and post-test frequencies to correct responses in general knowledge section	61
Table	11:	T-test of the differences between male and female mean drinking composite scores	63
Table	12:	T-test of mean drinking composite score differences between high-rise and low-rise residence hall students	64
Table	13:	T-test comparing mean drinking composite scores for co-ed and single sex living units	65
Table	14:	Pearson Correlation Coefficient analysis of relationship between G.P.A. and student drinking behaviors	66

.

Table	15:	Analysis of variance between student classification and mean drinking composite scores	67
Table	16:	T-test of drinking composite score means and part time employment	68
Table	17:	T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in high-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year	69
Table	18:	T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students residing in low-rise residence halls	70
Table	19:	T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in single-sex residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year	71
Table	20:	T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in co-ed residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year	72 .
Table	21:	Presentation of t-test results comparing pre and post-test URES mean scores for the treatment and control groups	73
Table	22:	Analysis of variance for the six URES environmental characteristics within the treatment control group	74
Table	23:	Analysis of variance of difference between pre and post-test drinking composit scores for treatment and control group members controlling for floor type	76
Table `	24:	Mean cell differences between pre and post-test drinking composite scores	77

•

CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION

The increasing consumption levels and abuse of alcoholic beverages on campuses across the country have become major concerns to college and university administrators. Not only is this problem affecting individual student behavior patterns, but it is also influencing the quality of the over-all campus environment. Several issues have been directly associated with abusive alcohol consumption including poor academic performance, destruction of university property, physical violence and increased sexual assault (Kraft, 1976).

Societal attitudes and regulations toward the use of alcohol have become progressively more tolerant in recent decades (Engs 1977). In the early 1970s legal drinking ages in many states were lowered. As state laws changed, so did university policies regarding the use of alcohol. The prevailing social and institutional value system surrounding the use of alcohol thus began to change, and student's attitudes and behaviors may have been influenced by these changing environmental characteristics.

Institutions have attempted to address abusive alcohol use through the development of comprehensive alcohol education programs (Gonzalez, 1980). These programs have frequently been designed to provide students with an opportunity to become better informed in making decisions about their use of alcohol. While many institutions developed programs, their impact on student alcohol use has not been extensively evaluated (Strange and Schmidt, 1979). Investigators generally have found that these programs have not been successful in changing behaviors or

drinking patterns (Strange and Schmidt 1979, Blane 1982, Gonzalez 1980). Blane reported that increased knowledge about alcohol does not affect student drinking behaviors. What does influence drinking behaviors and attitudes are the prevailing values within society and within the over-all environment of the institution.

The influence of the environment on human behavior has been the subject of numerous studies and subsequent behavioral theories (Barker 1968, Stern 1962, Walsh 1975). Environments influence and shape the behavior of the people who inhabit them (Barker 1968). According to Walsh's Subculture Concept (1975), consistent person-environment relationships tend to maintain and reinforce certain attitudes and behaviors. Thus, the environment can play a key role in the development and reinforcement of student behavior within the institution.

The campus environment is composed of a large number of sub-environments that can have considerable impact on student behaviors and attitudes. A very important sub-environment is the on-campus residential living area. Students living on-campus are continually exposed to influences from their residence hall environment. Chickering (1969) states that the residential living environment influences interpersonal learning and positive peer influence. In addition, normative behavior patterns are developed in the residence halls and are often a major source of identification for resident students.

Statement of the Problem

In order to more effectively address the problem of student alcohol abuse, residence hall administrators need to assess the specific

environmental characteristics that are influencing student drinking behaviors. Once these characteristics are determined, steps should be taken to develop a campus environment which would foster more positive student behavior regarding the use of alcohol. Although management of the environment can at times be viewed as manipulative, many professionals are assuming the position that administrators must function as agents of social change, seeking to improve any conditions that create problems for individuals (Miller and Prince 1977).

At Iowa State University (ISU) alcohol consumption by residence hall students is very common. A study by Krafft (1979) indicated that 89 percent of the students on campus consumed alcohol. The most common type of alcohol used was beer, and it was most often consumed at a bar or social function. Students are allowed to consume alcohol in the residence halls at ISU and subsequently social activities often have alcohol served as a part of the function. These activities are usually planned by student government organizations on each floor, and are a major part of the student lifestyle outside of the classroom.

The Alcohol Education Unit of the Office of Student Life has been providing alcohol education programming in university residence halls since 1977. These programs have focused primarily on alcohol awareness and the dissemination of information to students and staff. Initially, the number of programs conducted in the residence halls were minimal due to the limited number of staff and lack of student exposure to the programs.

In the Fall of 1981, a cooperative programming venture was

established between the Department of Residence at ISU and the Alcohol Education Unit. Four trained graduate assistants were added to the staff in order to increase the number of alcohol education programs presented in the university residence halls.

Although the goal of presenting a larger number of programs was achieved, no comprehensive evaluation effort has been conducted to determine what impact either the programs or the environment were having on student behaviors and attitudes toward alcohol consumption.

This study will attempt to evaluate the impact of a series of alcohol education programs on individual behavior patterns as well as assess the influence of the prevailing environment on student alcohol consumption within the residence halls at ISU.

Residence hall characteristics at ISU

The undergraduate residence halls at Iowa State are divided into three different facility complexes, the Towers Residence Association (TRA), the Union Drive Association (UDA) and the Richardson Court Association (RCA). Within the TRA and RCA there are high-rise 10-story buildings, and in the UDA and part of the RCA there are low-rise buildings of five stories or less. Each association has all-male floors, all-female floors, and co-ed floors with men and women living on the same floor.

Each residence hall floor or house at ISU maintains a student government organization which plans programs and activities and assists the hall staff in regulating the daily operation of the floor. In terms

of alcohol use, students living on each residence hall floor are allowed to establish their own policies for where and when alcohol may be consumed on the floor. These guidelines are established within certain parameters set by the Department of Residence staff. The Department staff assists floor members in enforcing their own policy and helps govern its implementation. The Department of Residence has established a policy of self governance in order to allow students to develop life skills and have a greater sense of responsibility for the operation of the floor.

The Iowa State residence hall system fosters the development of a strong sense of identity toward the house and the association. Since the early 1950s, each house has been assigned a separate name, and in many instances individual house characteristics and traditions are passed on from year to year to succeeding floor members. Some floors are more socially active than others and consequently have more social functions and parties involving the use of alcohol. There is a likelihood, therefore, that freshmen who are assigned to more socially active floors will be exposed to stronger environmental influences to consume alcohol than freshmen on other floors. Drinking patterns and individual alcohol use may be greater on certain floors with a more active social environment.

In his 1979(b) study, Moos found that the organizational structure of some floor living units may foster an environment which is conducive to the development of heavy drinking patterns. Therefore, a strong need exists at ISU to determine the influence of the social and physical

environment on student alcohol use, and assess whether the programming efforts of the alcohol education unit are having an effect on student drinking behaviors and attitudes.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study will be to evaluate the impact of a comprehensive alcohol education program series on both individual student drinking behaviors and on the perceived floor environment in which the student resides. The results and findings will provide a better understanding of how environmental characteristics influence student drinking behaviors, and how alcohol education programs affect alcohol use and perceived environmental characteristics.

This study is designed to assess whether specific environmental characteristics influence student drinking patterns in the residence halls. The environmental characteristics to be investigated are: floor type (male, female, co-ed), building type (high-rise, low-rise) and the perceived environment within the sub-culture of the floor. The characteristics of the sub-cultural environment will be measured by utilizing selected questions from the University Residence Environment Scale (URES) developed by Moos (1979b). These characteristics are involvement, emotional support, independence, academic achievement, order and organization, student influence and traditional social orientation.

Another purpose of the study will be to determine the number of students who either began drinking or increased their drinking behaviors

during the 1982-83 academic year at ISU. These data will be utilized to determine if specific environmental characteristics provided a greater probability of having students begin or increase their drinking while living in a particular residential environment.

Research Hypotheses

The hypotheses for this study are as follows:

- H-1: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between male and female students residing in university residence halls at Iowa State University.
- H-2: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between students living in high-rise and low-rise residence halls.
- H-3: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between students residing in single-sex living units and students residing in co-ed living units.
- H-4: There will be no significant correlation between student grade point average and student drinking behaviors.
- H-5: There will be no significant relationship between student classification (year in school) and student drinking patterns.
- H-6: There will be no significant correlation between student employment and student drinking behaviors.
- H-7: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in high-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 acadmic year.

H-8: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in low-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

H-9: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in single sex units during the 1982-83 academic year.

H-10: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in co-ed residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

H-11: Participation in a comprehensive alcohol education program series sponsored by the Alcohol Education Unit at ISU will have no significant effect on the perceived environment as assessed by selected characteristics from the University Residence Environment Scale.

H-12: Participation in a comprehensive alcohol education program series at I.S.U. will have no significant effect on student drinking behaviors.

The results of this study will be used to provide the investigator with data to analyze the impact of the alcohol education program series on both the individual student and the perceived environment of the living unit. Based on the data collected, recommendations will be made to develop strategies for implementing future alcohol education programs as well as managing the environment within the residence halls.

Limitations

This study was limited to investigating the attitudes and characteristics of students residing in Iowa State University residence

halls during the 1982-83 academic year. No inferences are intended for any other population.

This study utilized a self-reporting method for measuring drinking behaviors and alcohol use. Although this method has been used extensively in other research, there are limitations to this approach. The major drawback to this method is that there is no actual measure of the students' drinking behavior, but only what they report on the questionnaire.

In addition to this limitation, a perceptual measurement approach was utilized to establish an assessment of the environmental characteristics on each floor. The primary weakness to this approach is related to extraneous influences which affect perceptions, and thu bring into question whether perceptions are true measures of the environment. The perceptual measurement approach assumes that extraneous influences are randomly distributed in the sample population—enough so that the perception which is attained is a fairly accurate representation of that aspect of the environment.

During the study period, there may have been events on the Iowa State University campus that influenced the outcome of this study. During this project the Department of Residence at I.S.U. conducted a separate alcohol use study in response to a need to investigate alcohol policies. The purpose of this study was to assess student attitudes toward the current alcohol policies on campus, as well as to determine if students perceived an alcohol use problem at I.S.U. This survey was met with apprehension and criticism by students in the residence halls.

This negative reaction was focused primarily on the motivation behind the survey, and a suspicion that the Residence Hall administration was attempting to obtain supportive information for changing the existing alcohol policy.

The Department of Residence survey was conducted between the pre and the post-test distribution of the questionnaire. This distribution may have had some external influence on the outcomes of the post-test results for this study. The level of apprehension could have created some resistance toward completing the alcohol questionnaire used in this study. If this resistance had an impact on the results, it may account for the lower response rate to the post-test (39% vs 54% in the pre-test). The lower return rate from the post-test sample should give cause for some caution when interpreting the results of the study.

Definitions

The following definition of terms were utilized for the purpose of the study:

- 1. Co-ed floor A residence hall floor having both male and female residents. The floor is divided in half, with men living on one side of the floor and women on the other side.
- 2. High-Rise Residence Hall A residence hall constructed with ten or more floors, usually housing 500 or more students. Access to floors is by an elevator and stairs.
- 3. House Term used for a residence hall floor unit at Iowa State University. Each house has approximately 50 to 60 residents. The terms

floor and house are used synonymously.

- 4. Low-Rise Residence Halls A residence hall constructed with five or fewer floors. Students have access to their floor by stairwells.
- 5. Program A presentation of a specialized subject area to members of a residence hall floor.
- 6. Single-Sex Floor A residence hall floor consisting only of residents of the same sex.

CHAPTER TWO - REVIEW OF LITERATURE

This review of literature is designed to serve as a foundation for the research project. The review is divided into three sub-sections regarding the use of alcohol by students on college campuses. The sub-sections include: (1) alcohol use within college communities, (2) environmental impact and assessments in residence halls, and (3) and evaluation of the effectiveness of alcohol education programming on college campuses.

Alcohol Use Within College Communities

In a national study of 13 universities, Engs (1977) reported that 81 percent of the students surveyed identified themselves as at least occasional drinkers, and that hangovers, nausea and driving after drinking had been experienced by a majority of these students (Gonzalez and Kouba, 1979). This does not imply that the college population is composed of alcoholics and problem drinkers. It does mean, however, that there is a substantial number of young drinkers who give very little thought to what their alcohol use can mean in terms of alcohol-related disruptions and costs (National Clearinghouse for Alcohol Information, 1976).

A ten year longitudinal study at five universities (Arizona State, Penn State, Northern Colorado, SUNY-Geneseo and the University of Tennessee) indicated that alcohol consumption varied across institutions from 78 percent to 92 percent in 1970 to 79 percent to 97 percent in 1980 (Delzelsky, Toohey and Kush, 1981). Patterns over the ten year

period reveal that alcohol use generally increased (by as much as 13 percent) in 1973, decreased at four of the five institutions in 1976 and increased again in 1980 at four of the five institutions. The 1980 increase resulted in consumption percentages above the original 1970 consumption levels (from 1-15 percent). Delzelsky, Toohey and Kush report that alcohol was the drug of choice by most students throughout this study.

A national study of large American universities by the National Clearinghouse for Alcohol Information (1976) reported that between 87 and 97 percent of the students surveyed consumed some alcohol. Gallup (1977) stated that no other population in the United States has a larger proportion of drinkers than the college student population.

A close examination of college campus environments reveals that there are distinct differences in the drinking habits of certain subgroups within the campus environment. Significant differences between males and females emerge when quantity, frequency, type and situations surrounding alcohol use are examined. Men generally consume more alcohol than women and also report greater frequency of intoxication (Hill and Bugen, 1979; Hinrichs and Haskell, 1978). At Colorado State University, 20 percent more women than men limited drinks to one or two per week (Kuder and Madson, 1976). More of these men also reported feeling more pressure to drink, believed that drinking made campus life happier and said sometimes drinking interfered with school.

Among a sample of Greek organization members, men believed alcohol was more "important" than women did (Jensen, Poremba, Nelson and

Schwartz, 1980). Mills and McCarty (1983) found that members of fraternities and sororities are unlikely to be non-drinkers or light drinkers. Instead, almost half of the Greek affiliates they surveyed were heavy drinkers. Mills and McCarty also found that 76 percent of drinking occurred on week-ends. Heavy drinkers were more likely to live in fraternities than in residence halls.

Data on when, where and with whom college students drink alcohol describe a pattern of mainly social drinking. Generally, college students drink in large or small groups of the same sex or mixed. Most often consumption occurs at night, and usually on the week-ends. Students usually consume alcohol at private parties, local bars or college sponsored functions. A national survey of college students reveals that 82.7 percent drink on week-ends and at parties, while only 2 percent report daytime drinking (Delzelsky, Toohey and Kush, 1981). Mills and McCarty (1983) found that class standing had a significant effect on the locations where students chose to drink. Upperclassmen drank at off-campus locations more frequently and underclassmen drank more on campus, particularly at residence hall parties.

Some studies have also noted that drinking patterns vary according to different class levels. Findings of increased drinking from the freshman to the senior year has been taken as evidence that the development of a drinking pattern is part of the college experience (Girdano and Girdano, 1976). A sample of University of Maryland students reported that 78 percent of the freshmen, 78 percent of the sophomores, 86 percent of the juniors and 91 percent of the seniors

consumed alcohol (Girdano and Girdano, 1974).

Although most educators appear to sense that there has been a dramatic increase of drinking on college campuses, Engs (1977) found that the percentage of students who reported drinking now is similar to the percentage who reported drinking five and 25 years ago. The proportion of students who are heavy drinkers or are abstainers appear to be about the same as the proportion of students in the past. Engs found, however, that larger percentages of both black and white women were drinking more while there were fewer black men who were identified as heavy drinkers. In terms of behavioral problems related to drinking, there also appears to have been no increase in negative behaviors due to drinking during the past 25 years.

Despite these findings, college administrators and the mass media have perceived drinking and negative behaviors related to drinking to be a more serious problem now than in the past. Engs indicates three primary reasons for these perceptions.

- 1. Students may be drinking more openly than in the past because of changes in state laws which regulate the minimum age of drinking. Along with this, university regulations have become less strict, particularly in residence halls. As state laws reduced drinking ages, students of legal drinking age were allowed to consume alcohol on the premises in their living environment.
- 2. Students may be discussing drinking more openly with university personnel.
 - 3. The lowering of state drinking ages around the country and the

subsequent liberalization of policies regulating drinking on college campuses have permitted drinking-related problems to surface.

When alcohol was found to be the "drug of choice" in many studies conducted during the early 1970s, university personnel may have become aware of drinking-related problems which had existed previously but had been ignored (Engs 1977).

Reasons for alcohol use and abuse

Another major issue facing educators regarding the use of alcohol has been to determine the reasons why students drink and the factors related to these stated reasons. Student lifestyles can bring changes in drinking patterns and consumption behavior. A sample of students surveyed by Hill and Bugen (1979), reported 49.2 percent either started or increased their use of alcohol since entering the university. The primary reasons given for drinking were relaxation or reduction of tension (68 percent), increased sociability (46 percent), and to "relate better to other people." Another study conducted by Hashway (1979) found that academic tension and social tension accounted for over 56 percent of the reasons for drinking.

Many students drink to reduce feelings of tension or anxiety.

Although academic pressure is listed as a reason, studies have found that the higher a student's grade point average, the less the student tended to drink (Engs 1977). Hill and Bugen (1979) also reported that students with a grade point average of 2.0 - 2.9 (based on 4.0=A) consistently reported drinking more often, drinking greater amounts and

becoming intoxicated more frequently. Moos (1979a) also reported that heavy drinking men and women had lower educational aspirations than abstainers. Average or below average students may feel more academic pressures, and therefore seek a release through the use of alcohol more frequently.

Hill and Bugen (1979) found that sophomores reported drinking more often, consuming more alcohol, and becoming intoxicated more often than do any other class group. In addition, Moos (1979a), found that many students begin or increase their use of alcohol during their freshman year, and that moderate or heavy alcohol use is associated with poor academic or social functioning and may lead to problem behaviors. The freshman and sophomore years thus seem to be crucial in the development of drinking patterns and abusive drinking behaviors, and since a majority of these students live in residence halls, the literature supports the need for such a study.

Environmental Impact

Influence of peers

A primary reason for drinking and the development of particular drinking patterns is that college-age students are very susceptible to meeting perceived expectations of significant others within their immediate peer group. Many studies have demonstrated peer group effects on student alcohol use, both in terms of formally defined groups such as college fraternities (Gusfield 1961; Rodgers 1958) and in terms of the influence of friends (Alexander and Campbell 1968). Jessor and Jessor

(1975) note that the same pattern prevails among high school students: having friends who drink predicts the onset of drinking (Moos 1979a).

A study conducted by Britt and Campbell (1977) found that those who drank in high school were more likely to be involved with peers who drank and were more likely to have a normative structure (group behavioral standards) which is compatible with drinking. Those who did not drink were more likely to associate with others who do not drink and tended to believe that drinking is either morally wrong or socially worthless.

Britt and Campbell found that the drinking patterns and social relationships a student had in the spring semester of his/her senior year in high school had a considerable influence in determining the patterns of social relationships and drinking behaviors that the student had in college. This was especially true for the selection of best friends and drinking behaviors. As a result of their study, the investigators suggest that the social environment, normative structure and drinking behaviors are interrelated with each other.

Two strongly interrelated variables identified in the Britt and Campbell study were the normative structure and drinking behavior. The impact that each of these has on the other is substantial, and both exert strong independent effects on the social group with which one is affiliated. If causal priority is to be assigned, the individual seems to be the cause rather than the social environment since there appears to be more adjustment of the social environment to both normative structure and behavior than visa versa. Consonance among these elements

appears to be attributable to the activity of the individual in adjusting his/her drinking patterns and norms to one another and selecting social environments that are supportive of this adjustment.

What Britt and Campbell appeared to be witnessing in their data is the process by which alcohol becomes integrated into the everyday world of the individuals exposed to it. The matriculating student is constructing a social reality around alcohol. This reality consists of a set of norms which legitimate certain actions involving alcohol, and a set of individuals and groups who are compatible both with the extent of alcohol use and the constraints of his/her normative structure.

Students will seek out environments and social settings which are compatible with their existing normative structure. However, most new students are placed in residence hall environments on a random basis and remain in their original assignments. These students are therefore exposed to and are influenced by environmental characteristics they have not selected.

Mills (1981) found that within certain groups peer pressure can encourage alcohol abuse by individuals who did not abuse alcohol before coming to college and will not after leaving it. Another study (Jessor and Jessor 1975) found that the greater the peer approval and modeling of drinking the greater the likelihood that students will move from abstainer to drinker.

Although students seek out and choose their own peer groups and environments that are conducive to their normative drinking behaviors, it appears that students are still influenced enough by prevailing

immediate environments to change behaviors and begin to drink. These environmental influences may be so strong that students who do not drink will drink within the environment, and may or may not continue to drink, or drink as heavily once they have left the environment.

Studies of peer influence on alcohol use suggest that student living groups have considerable impact on the drinking practices of their members. Associations between peer context and youth drinking have been demonstrated in both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. Alexander and Campbell (1968) found that male adolescents were more likely to be drinkers when their friends drank than when they did not drink. Also, the more drinking friends adolescents had, the more likely they were to drink frequently. The greater the number of drinking friends a non-drinker had, the more likely the non-drinker was to experience peer pressure to drink (Moos 1979a).

Mills (1981) found that many alcohol abusing groups do not see themselves as deviant at all, but rather as estimable organizations that should not be persecuted. This aspect of group cohesion is important because it indicates the strength of the normative and social criterion of the group. The normative structure of the group may become more dominant than the prevailing expectations of the rest of the society. What may be deviant drinking behavior for the larger society could be looked upon as normal behavior within specialized groups or living units.

Moos (1979a) found that when non-drinking students inadvertently select or are placed into a setting where other students drink heavily,

most students will conform to the press of the environment and increase their alcohol consumption. Moos also found qualities or drinking patterns a student brings to a living group will persist and become accentuated, provided they are shared by their peers in the unit.

Peer pressure plays a key role in the influencing student drinking behaviors. Knowledge of these pressures is essential if we are to understand the overall impact of the environment. Mills (1981) states that we must learn more about the conditions that influence abuse and find ways to alter those conditions in order to encourage more healthy drinking behavior.

Sub-cultural environmental factors

The previous section described specific peer group effects on student alcohol use. Within residence hall living groups, there are subcultural variations which may contribute to stronger or weaker influences from the environment. The focus on subcultural factors within living units will allow for the investigation of the role and extent of reference group effects.

The prevailing sub-cultural (human aggregate) environmental influences provide crucial contributions to understanding the overall impact that the residence hall environment has upon the residents of that environment. Feldman and Newcomb (1969) found that living groups affect both stability and change in students. The living groups help to stabilize students' congruent characteristics and change their deviant characteristics to conform to the norms of the setting. For

students in residence halls, there is strong pressure to conform to the prevailing normative behavioral and attitudinal expectations of the environment.

Living groups that exhibit high cohesion and integration of students into the social and interpersonal aspects of college life may have more influence on personal and academic development than other units (Moos 1979b). A 1984 study by Brand and Schrager at the University of Illinois found that living group norms regarding alcohol use contribute to differences in academic achievement among university living groups. In addition, negative drinking behaviors were found to be more prevalent within living groups that emphasize dating or student influence in decision making. When academic achievement is not valued, Brand and Schrager found that constraints against heavy drinking may be reduced. Living groups that stress high academic standards tend to drink less and have fewer behavioral problems related to alcohol. College-age students have a strong need to conform to the perceived behavioral expectations of their peers (Chickering 1969). This personal need to conform creates an extremely high susceptibility to the environmental influences that may be prevalent within a residence hall living unit.

Moos (1979b) found that the personal and environmental systems affect each other through mediating processes of cognitive appraisal and activation or arousal. These mediating factors are influenced both by personal characteristics and environmental characteristics. Students adapt to the environment by using a preferred set of coping skills.

These skills are determined in part by the personal system and the environmental system. A student's use of a coping skill may change both systems.

Moos also found that the evaluation of the sub-cultural environment is influenced by three converging lines of evidence:

- Personality and other individual difference variables only partially account for variance in behavior.
- 2. Stable, long-term settings can have a powerful impact since the more intensive, committed, cohesive and integrated the settings, the greater the impact.
- Social-ecological settings in which students function can affect their attitudes and moods, their behaviors and performance, and their self-concept and general sense of well-being.

Some sub-cultural environments will also be stronger than others and will have greater influence over people within the environment than will environments with less strong characteristics. Floor units in residence halls are meaningful and important to students. They are relatively homogeneous and cohesive and are likely to have a strong impact. Students tend to have more control of these settings than they have of the larger environment of the institutions (Moos 1979b).

The sub-cultural environments within residential settings thus play a significant part in the overall impact that the residence hall has on student attitudes and behaviors. Architectural influences, organization factors, and the human sub-cultural aggregate combine to form the

overall influences from the environment. The social climate is both a fourth domain of environmental variables and the major mediator of the influences of the other three (Moos 1979b).

Moos states that varied sets of individual characteristics can help explain people's responses to environmental contexts. Background and personal characteristics include age, sex, ability level, interests and values, ego strengh and self-esteem. Preferences for such coping styles as active engagement in the environment, tension reduction, and exploration also influence responses to the environment. These factors help to determine what an environment means to an individual and what psychological and intellectual resources are available to adapt (cope) with the setting.

Personal and environmental factors influence each other, creating a process of cognitive appraisal. Cognitive appraisal is the individual perceiving the environment as being either potentially harmful, beneficial, or irrelevant (primary appraisal), and the perception of the range of available coping alternatives (secondary appraisal). One usually cannot relate an objective environmental variable directly to a dependent outcome. Although both the environmental system and the personal system can affect behavior directly, cognitive appraisal is an essential mediating factor in most issues related to student functioning. Cognitive appraisal prompts efforts at adaptation or coping which may change the environmental system or the coping system.

The interaction that a student has with the sub-cultural environment can be a mutual interplay of influences. Some individuals,

through their utilization of personal characteristics, will have more of an influence on the environment than others. Subsequently, some individuals will be influenced more by the environment than others.

Residential environments and drinking behaviors

In an effort to determine if specific residence hall environments were conducive to excessive or abusive drinking behaviors, Moos (1979b) conducted a study of 1196 students residing in residence halls at two western universities. The study investigated primary differences between single-sex living units and co-ed living units. Findings revealed that men and women in single-sex units were more likely to drink on dates and at parties, whereas students in co-ed living units drank more at meals and in informal social gatherings.

The factors which influence student drinking behaviors varied between single-sex floors and co-ed floors. The men's and women's units where alcohol use was greater had high scores in the area of relationships and traditional social orientation and low scores on independence. In contrast, co-ed social environments associated with drinking had relatively high scores on independence and intellectuality and low scores for academic achievement and traditional social orientation. Those single-sex living units identified as having heavy drinking patterns had social environments similar to those which traditionally characterize fraternities and sororities (involvement and cohesion, dating, and partying and clear rules and regulations).

The floor environment that is most conducive to heavy alcohol

consumption in co-ed units is characterized by relative non-conformity, i.e., independence, indifference toward dating and studying and greater concern for creativity, personal feelings and extra-curricular activities. In addition, these findings indicate that the more homogeneous environments (such as living groups comprised mostly of high drinking students) have more uniform and consistent influences on alcohol use with fewer conflicting pressures that are more likely to affect changes in behavior. The pressure on abstainers or very light drinkers in homogeneous high drinking settings is particularly strong, and as a result many of them conform to the majority and begin or increase their drinking.

Demographic characteristics of drinkers

In order to investigate drinking patterns and drinking behaviors of college students, it is important to investigate who is more prone to establish drinking behaviors, and who is more susceptible to be influenced by factors impacting student drinking behaviors.

Socio-demographic factors show moderate correlation with teen-age drinking. Social class has been found to be a factor as higher socio-economic class adolescents tend to drink more than other teenagers. Religion is also a factor with Catholics consuming more than those of other religions. The sex of a student is also a variable, with males drinking more than females. Parental drinking patterns were influential in that adolescents often assume the drinking pattern of their parents (Moos 1979a).

College-age male problem drinkers have been identified as relatively independent, aggressive, impulsive, anxious and depressed (Williams 1970). Jones (1971) concluded that male problem drinkers are less self-controlled, more hostile, expressive, assertive and gregarious. Female problem drinkers tend to be more unstable, hostile and impulsive than moderate drinkers or abstainers. Jones also reported that male abstainers are more over-controlled, emotionally bland, introspective and moralistic than drinkers.

In his study of men and women abstainers, Moos (1979a) found they reported higher religious concern than moderate and heavy drinkers. Heavy drinkers engaged in more social activities and dating than moderate drinkers, and moderate drinkers dated and socialized more than non-drinkers. Heavy drinkers rated themselves as more dominant, rebellious, and outgoing and less cautious than non-drinkers. Heavy drinking men and women had lower educational aspirations than abstainers.

Female heavy drinkers were found to be more non-conformist in some respects than the male heavy drinker. The female heavy drinker may be more likely to drink for escapist or rebellious reasons. Cahalan, Cisin and Crossley (1969) found that 64 percent of female heavy drinkers and 48 percent of male heavy drinkers drank to escape worries and depression. Sanford (1967) suggested that women who drink frequently may do so to conform to the situation——such as drinking on dates. Men, however, are more likely to want to drink frequently because it is more sex-role appropriate. Drinking by men thus may be attributed more to

dispositional factors, whereas, drinking by women may be more influenced by situational factors.

In a longitudinal study of high school and college men and women Jessor and Jessor (1975) found the onset of drinking to be related to the following set of personal and behavioral attributes: lower value on academic achievement, greater tolerance of deviant behavior, less religiosity, less involvement with parents and with friends whose ideologies are similar to those of their parents, more friends who drink and who approve of drinking, and less involvement with church and grades. These conditions of readiness are more likely to make the student more susceptible to environmental factors.

In addition to these conditions of readiness, there are some students who are more influenced by the environment than others.

Feldman and Newcomb (1969) found that the impact of the college environment is greatest on those students who are open to change, concerned about social acceptance, and are sensitive and responsive to the normative pressures of the college peer group. Findings suggest that women are more subject to environmental influences than men (Moos 1979). Women who resist environmental influences on alcohol consumption seem to exhibit some stress related consequences. He also noted that the overall influence of the social climate in a living unit was stronger on women than on men.

Women also show greater increases in alcohol consumption during their first year in college, thus suggesting the college environment has more influence on women than on men (Moos 1979b). In terms of college

classes, sophomores reported drinking more often, consuming more alcohol, and becoming intoxicated more often than do any other group (Hill and Bugen 1979). Studies have reported that the drinking pattern differences between men and women, and between freshmen and seniors are becoming more alike. This would support the findings of women increasing their drinking patterns during their freshman year.

Moos (1979a) summarized his results by reporting that three sets of personal characteristics are associated with student drinking patterns:

- 1. Alcohol use is related to a set of variables indicating a lack of commitment to conventional values, i.e., lower religious concerns, lower aspiration levels, less interest in academic achievement, and greater likelihood of engaging in impulsive behavior.
- 2. Alcohol use takes place during such informal social activities as dating and partying. Students who describe themselves as more sociable, extroverted, and dominant and who participate in those activities are more likely to begin drinking and drink more heavily.
- 3. Students who drink more are less well integrated into the academic aspects of college life, are more likely to encounter stressful situations, and are more prone to experience the effects of stress such as alienation, physical symptoms, and medication use.

Environmental Assessment Strategies

The impact of college and university environments on students has become an issue of increasing interest and concern in recent years.

This interest stems from an acknowledgement that student behaviors and

attitudes are directly affected by the prevailing environmental characteristics of the campus. The college-age years are critical years for the development of attitudes and behavior patterns which will prevail throughout their lives. Normal maturation brings changes irrespective of the environment, but growth is unlikely to proceed in a positive direction if damaging influences are present (Miller and Prince 1977).

According to Barker's Behavior Setting Theory (1968) environments select and shape the behavior of people who inhabit them. Within the subculture concept, consistent person-environment relationships tend to stimulate satisfying human association as well as maintain and reinforce certain attitudes and behavior. Similarly, Holland's research (1970) indicates that congruent interactions between the individual and the environment are associated with personal and vocational stability and satisfaction. Stern (1962) believes that a relatively congruent person-environment relationship (combination of "needs and press") produces a sense of fulfillment, while a relatively dissonant relationship (unstable needs-press combination) produces stress (Miller and Prince 1977).

In 1973, the Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE) developed an "Ecosystem Model for Designing Campus Environments." This model was established to help campus administrators better understand the impact that the environment was having on students. From this understanding, strategies could be established for educators to more effectively manage their campus environment.

The WICHE Commission described the campus community as a series of transactions among various environments which are managed by members of the community in order to insure congruency with the overall mission of the institution. A college campus should be designed to accommodate a variety of student lifestyles. Campus design is an attempt to create a campus environment that will foster student growth and development. The intent is to reduce individual student problems, through the treatment of the environmental factors which shape student behavior.

The WICHE Commission stated that several philosophical assumptions were important for the establishment of their model. Among these assumptions were basic tenets necessary for understanding environmental impact and assessment. These tenets included:

- The campus environment consists of all stimuli impinging upon the students' sensory modalities and include physical, chemical, biological, and social stimuli.
- A transactional relationship exists between college students and their campus environment, i.e., the students shape the environment and are shaped by it.
- 3. Every student possesses the capacity for a wide spectrum of possible behaviors. A given campus environment may facilitate or inhibit any one or more of these behaviors.
- 4. Students will attempt to cope with any educational environment in which they are placed. If the environment is not compatible with the students, the

- students may react negatively or fail to develop desirable qualities.
- 5. There are wide-range of individual differences among students, and fitting the campus environment to the student requires the creation of a variety of campus sub-environments. There must be an attempt to design an environment for a wide-range of individual characteristics found among students (WICHE, 1972).

Miller and Prince (1977) found that the ideal environment for student development is characterized by certain principles. First, the various elements of the environment must serve common institutional goals. Second, there must be a purposeful relationship between formal learning and the student's growth outside of the classroom. Third, a reasonable degree of compatibility between an individual and college is necessary to promote maximum growth. Fourth, there must be a true relationship between what happens on the campus and what happens in the "real world." The fifth and perhaps single most important principle is that an effective environment responds to the developmental needs of its inhabitants.

The impact of the campus environment is thus a product of the total influences of the institutions's sub-environments. One significant out-of-classroom sub-environment is the living area in which the students reside. As much as 70 percent of a student's time is spent in the residential environment (Valins and Baum 1973). Thus, the impact of the residential environment can be significant.

Residence hall environments

College residence halls represent a well-defined yet diverse environment in which three different levels of variables co-mingle. On the psychological level, a residence hall is composed of individuals who interact within an environment that has varying impact on their interpersonal behavior and attitudes. Secondly, a residence hall is a semi-independent social system with mores, normative behavior patterns, and rules for acceptable behavior and prescribed conduct. The system is bound physically but maintains varying linkages to the larger college social system.

On a third level, a residence hall is a physical space in which architectural characteristics interact with and impose restraints on the social system. Traffic flow, group size, social accessibility, and perceptions of physical aesthetics influence social variables (Gerst and Sweetwood 1973).

Institutional choice faces all students who wish to obtain post-secondary education. Astin (1978) found that students on different campuses will encounter quite varied settings, and that such settings will influence their experience and behavior. Studies have found that architectural, organizational, and human aggregate variables influence the social environment (Moos 1979a). It is thus important to include these three domains when evaluating residence hall environments.

Feldman (1971) suggested that certain characteristics of the environment may conceptually and empirically precede others. That is, some aspects of environments may be causally dependent on others.

Architectural characteristics are important because they affect perceptions, attitudes and values which in turn influence behavior. Physical and architectural variables can affect social climates directly (i.e., more cohesive climates may develop in living groups with a high proportion of double rooms), and indirectly through their organizational functioning. Small settings facilitate student interaction and the development of common interests and activities.

The social and sub-cultural environments are thus strongly influenced by the impact of architectural and organizational factors. The two sections that follow will review the literature specifically pertaining to these two aspects of the residence hall environment.

Architectural factors

During the enrollment growth of the 1960s colleges and universities constructed additional housing facilities because of the increasing numbers of students. This new construction period brought a variety of architectural styles to residence facilities. Although some campuses continued to build low-rise (four or five-story) buildings which were in the mode of existing facilities, many universities built high-rise (ten or more story) buildings in an effort to save needed space and funds. While large sums of money were spent on the design and construction of student housing, only sporadic attempts were made to assess the impact of these environments on the residents of the buildings.

Since the construction of these facilities, numerous studies have been conducted to determine if there are differences in behaviors and attitudes within high-rise and low-rise residence halls. Studies have shown that students living in high-rise residence halls behaved in a less socially responsible fashion and perceived their fellow residents as being less friendly and gregarious than students living in low-rise buildings (Valins, Baum 1973).

Another study (Wilcox and Holohan 1976) found that the differences in high-rise and low-rise environments signficantly affected the degree of commitment students felt for one another, their patterns of interaction and emotional support, and the level of involvement in organizational functioning. Residents of high-rise buildings rated their environment lower in the areas of involvement, support, order, organization and student participation than did students in low-rise residence halls.

In areas such as intellectual productivity, satisfaction with college life, emotional development, and inter-personal relationship skills, the physical living environment may have a significant impact on students.

Organizational factors

Organizational variables within residence hall environments may play a significant role in influencing student behaviors and attitudes. Residence hall systems across the country are organized differently, with different floor characteristics and staffing patterns. These differences can impact the types of experiences a student has, as well as influence the nature and quality of development that takes place.

Specific organizational characteristics which may influence behavior and attitudes are the type of floor unit, such as single sex compared with co-ed; suite arrangements on a floor; and room options, such as single room, double room only, and/or triple room assignments (Valins and Baum 1973). Some residence hall systems also have developed special-option living arrangements which are designed to better meet the specific interests and needs of students residing in those units. Some of these options include special quiet units, academic major units, athletic units, and hobby interest units. Other systems have all-freshmen living arrangements.

Another organizational variable which has been found to influence environments is the residence hall staffing patterns within the unit. The student/staff ratio, as well as the expectations and job descriptions of staff can play a significant role in the types of interaction and experiences students have with the staff (Zirke and Hudson 1975).

These preceding studies support the notion that residence hall environmental characteristics can influence drinking behaviors, drinking patterns, and attitudes toward the use of alcohol. The findings will be utilized as the basis for this study which will investigate architectural, organizational, and sub-cultural influences of the environment and attempt to determine whether these influences do affect drinking behaviors.

Alcohol Education Program Evaluation

University administrators have addressed the problem of alcohol abuse and related behaviors with a wide array of programs centered around alcohol awareness, alcohol education, counseling strategies and training and development for staff. The impact of these programs on the student population has not been evaluated on many campuses. On those campuses where there have been evaluations of alcohol education programs, inconclusive results have been found.

Strange and Schmidt (1979) found that a number of alcohol programs have been misdirected and their effectiveness has been questioned due to a lack of data regarding their success in changing behaviors and drinking patterns of students. Blane (1982) concluded that most college efforts designed to influence student drinking behaviors and reduce alcohol-related problems do not work. According to Blane, drinking among college students is strongly influenced by social values, and psychological factors such as personality differences played limited roles in influencing drinking patterns.

In general, programs adopted by colleges to address the student drinking problem focus on two areas; student's knowledge of alcohol and their attitudes. The interest in these two areas is predicated on the assumption that if students know about the physical and psychological effects of alcohol they will be more predisposed to change their attitudes and behavior. According to Blane (1982), this model is becoming outdated.

Findings suggest that knowledge about a subject can be readily

changed. Changing attitudes is difficult, but it can be accomplished. However, behavior change is the most difficult and cannot be done by current programming methods (Blane 1982). Some evidence suggests that standard alcohol education programs have little, if any, impact on the drinking behavior of college students.

A 1980 study by Gonzalez investigated the effects of a four-hour alcohol education module on college students attitudes, knowledge and behavior related to alcohol use. The specific characteristics of students which were studied included the degree of responsibility in attitudes toward alcohol use, the level of knowledge about alcohol and the incidences of negative behavior surrounding alcohol use. Results of the study indicated that the alcohol education module favorably affected the degree of responsibility in attitudes toward alcohol as well as the level of knowledge about alcohol. The changes produced by the module were still indicated in a post test three months after the module was presented.

There was, however, no significant difference between the experimental and control groups on the incidence of negative behavior. Gonzalez concluded that either attitudes toward alcohol can be modified without a corresponding change in behavior or that attitude change could be the first step toward behavioral change.

At Iowa State University (ISU), there have been two studies which may be of importance to this study. In 1977 and 1979, studies were conducted by the Office of Student Life which surveyed ISU students to determine knowledge, behaviors and attitudes regarding alcohol. In

1977, a comprehensive alcohol education program was implemented to provide students with learning experiences on a variety of alcohol/drug related topics. The 1979 study was utilized to assess the impact of the programs on the drinking attitudes, behavior and knowledge of students at ISU.

The most dramatic change from 1977-1979 was the increase in student knowledge about alcohol. Thirteen of the 27 survey questions pertaining to knowledge about alcohol exhibited significant increases. However, reported drinking behaviors indicated very little change. The number of students drinking remained at about 89 percent. The majority of students preferred beer to other beverages, they tended to drink in night clubs and bars, and consumed an average of one to three drinks per sitting.

When surveyed regarding consequences of their drinking, some small changes had occurred between 1977 and 1979. In 1979, fewer students reported driving a car after they knew that they had had too much to drink. Fewer students in 1979 reported having come to class after several drinks, and fewer students reported getting nauseated and sick from drinking.

In 1982, Charles Cyochosz of the ISU Physical Education Department participated in a study with researchers from the University of Florida and the University of Wisconsin - La-Crosse to assess the effectiveness of voluntary educational activities in changing drinking behaviors/attitudes of college students. Specifically, the study investigated the differences in students' drinking attitudes and

behaviors before and after a voluntary alcohol education series.

Results of the study indicated that the program impact on student drinking behaviors were more consistent and beneficial than the impact on drinking attitudes. Among the significant behavioral differences for the post-programs participating population were: less driving while under the influence of alcohol and less heavy drinking and related decreases in the negative consequences of drinking behaviors.

Summary

The information cited in the review of literature was utilized to provide a basis for the development of the research model presented in the following chapter. The review was divided into three subsections citing literature and other research findings in the areas of student alcohol use, environmental assessment and alcohol education programming.

Studies cited in the area of student alcohol use indicated that alcohol comsumption is very prevalent on college campuses, and that rates of consumption varied across sub-groups within campus environments. Peer pressure played a significant part in influencing student alcohol use, and consequently student living groups had considerable impact on the drinking behaviors of residents. Different types of living groups had different effects on residents.

In the area of environmental assessment, the research cited indicated that the impact of the campus environment is a product of the combined influence of the various sub-environments within the institution. Residence halls are a major sub-environment in that a

large part of students out-of-classroom time is spent there. Residence hall environments are composed of three different levels of variables - psychosocial, social and architectural.

In reviewing the area of alcohol education, studies have shown that behavioral changes do not necessarily occur through participation in alcohol education programs, although attitudes and knowledge are affected. The review of literature was used by the investigator to assimilate the basic criteria for developing and implementing the research model presented in Chapter Three.

CHAPTER THREE - METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes the specific procedures used to develop the survey instrument, to select the sample and to distribute and collect the questionnaire. In addition, the content and implementation strategy of the alcohol education programs will also be presented.

Item Development

The survey instrument used in this study was designed to assess alcohol use by students, their knowledge of the effects of alcohol and their perceptions of the existing living environment. The specific items used in the survey instrument were derived from previously utilized alcohol surveys and questionnaires. These resource survey instruments were from: The University of Georgia, the University of Florida, Iowa State University, and the "College Experience Questionnaire". The instrument was developed using five sub-sections: demographic information, an assessment of non-drinkers and why they do not drink, an assessment of drinkers and their drinking patterns, an assessment of student perceptions of their floor environment, and a survey of student knowledge of alcohol and its effects. A copy of the instrument is in Appendix A. The items in the subsection which assessed student perceptions of their living environment were derived from selected questions of the University Residence Environment Scale (URES), Moos (1979b).

The URES instrument measures the perceived psycho-social climate of the student living area. The rationale used for the development of the URES was basically derived from the theoretical contributions of Murray (1938) and his conceptualization of the environmental press. The logic of the approach is that the consensus of individuals characterizing their environmental climate exerts a directonal influence on behavior.

The URES instrument focuses on the measurement and description of student relationships and the type of informal organizational structure of the living group. In order to accomplish this, the instrument measures ten different characteristics of the living unit. These characteristics are: involvement, emotional support, independence, competition, academic achievement, intellectuality, order and organization, student influence, innovation and traditional social orientation. These characteristics will be measured on each floor in this study, and will be correlated with student drinking patterns to determine any relationship implications. Approval for using the selected questions from the URES instrument was obtained from Consulting Psychologists Press, Palo Alto, California.

Survey development and layout

Once the items were developed for the five subsections of the survey instrument, the survey was developed. The order of the items within each section was randomly determined. The order of the sections was determined by a combination of factors - importance of topic, readability and ease of answering.

Research design and sample selection

As indicated in Chapter I, this study was designed to measure the impact of an alcohol education program series on both individual student drinking behaviors and the perceived floor environment in which the student resides. In addition, this study assessed whether specific environmental characteristics (i.e. floor type and building type) affect student drinking behaviors.

In order to establish a research design that would allow for the measurement of all of these variables, 12 different residence hall floors were selected from the three single-sex residence hall complexes at I.S.U. The residence hall complexes are groups of four to seven residence halls housing 2600 to 3200 students. These complexes are separately organizational housing areas which are composed of individual student government bodies and residence hall staff. The names of these complexes are: The Towers Residence Association (TRA), the Union Drive Association (UDA) and the Richardson Court Association (RCA).

The floors that participated in the research project were selected at random from a list provided by the Department of Residence staff.

The resident advisor and student government leaders from each floor were contacted early in the Fall semester by the investigator to discuss their participation in the project.

All of the student leaders agreed to participate in the project.

The treatment and control groups were selected after the initial meeting. The floors were selected according to the following distribution:

1. TRA (High-rise buildings)

Two male floors

Two co-ed floors

UDA (low-rise buildings)

Two male floors

Two co-ed floors

3. RCA

Two female floors (low rise)

Two female floors (high rise).

One floor from each of the six pairs of floors was selected to participate in the alcohol education program series. One floor from each pair was selected as the control floor. The control floor was not provided with any alcohol education programs on the floor during the academic year.

Distribution of the survey

The surveys were distributed twice during the academic year following a pre-test post-test control group research design. The instument was distributed initially in October 1982 to the residents of the 12 selected floors. An approximate 6-week time period was allowed between the beginning of the school year and the distribution of the survey in order to allow residents to obtain an established perception of their environment.

The post-test distribution was conducted near the end of the academic year (April, 1983). The surveys were distributed and collected

by Resident Assistants (RAs) and student government members living on each floor. The investigator met with each group prior to the distribution of the survey and carefully explained the procedures for distribution.

Student names were not obtained on the instrument, however social security numbers were utilized to allow the investigator to compare changes in individual behavior from the pre-test to the post-test.

Approval for the project was obtained from the I.S.U. Human Subjects Committee.

Alcohol Education Programs

Two comprehensive alcohol education programs were presented to the six selected floors between the pre-test and the post-test. The first program was presented in October and November and the second was presented in January and February.

Student participation in the programs was voluntary. However, staff and student government leaders on each floor publicized the programs and encouraged students to attend. The attendance at the programs varied from floor to floor, however, there was no observable difference between the attendance at these programs and other alcohol education programs presented in the residence halls during the year.

Although the presenters of the programs were different, the content of the programs was the same for each floor to insure continuity in the program. The programs were presented by the Alcohol Education

Programming team which is comprised of four graduate assistants working

for the Alcohol Education Office.

The program content was determined by Steve McDonnell, Coordinator of the Alcohol Education Office at ISU and the investigator. The material dealt with the physical effects of alcohol, alcohol and the problem drinker, sexuality and alcohol, and alcohol and relationships (See Appendix B).

Data Preparation

The returned surveys were coded and keypunched by the Computer Center at Southeast Missouri State University. After each survey distribution, the data were stored in the computer for future analysis.

The pre-test instrument responses were completed by students on the survey instrument itself. The responses on the post-test were completed on computerized scan sheets in order to facilitate tabulation of the responses. For the pre-test responses, the answers were converted to key-punch cards by a key-punch operator at Southeast Missouri State University.

Reliability and validity

Time restrictions and sample size did not allow for statistical reliability tests to be run on the survey instrument used in this study. The items in the survey were primarily drawn from other alcohol surveys and questionnaires. Therefore, the instrument should have a high standard of reliability.

A high commonality of survey questions from the selected

questionnaires were found on all of the instruments used. A review of the questions associated with the instruments by professional staff provided face validity. The validity of all the questions are difficult to determine. As cited earlier, the URES instrument was developed from Murray's needs-press theory, but there are no existing measures to compare with the URES results. However, the URES instrument has been used extensively by residence hall administrators in assessing perceptions of residential environments. Recognizing this limitation, this instrument appeared to have high face validity, based on its grounding in the common environmental variables found in the literature on assessment, and on the background of the other instruments used in the survey.

Statistical preparation

The data were analyzed by the following procedures:

- 1. Frequencies and means.
- 2. Pearson Correlation Coefficient
- 3. 2 x 3 factorial analysis of variance.
- 4. Analysis of Variance.
- 5. Cross Tabulation between independent variables.
- 6. T-Tests

Individual and floor drinking patterns were measured through the development of a mean drinking composite score. This composite was determined by assigning a response value to the answers from questions 15 to 23 in the research instrument. A mean score was then calculated

from the total response tabulation.

The information presented in this chapter described the methodology and procedures that were utilized to implement the research project. Specifically, the information was used to plan and design the survey instrument, select the sample and distribute the questionnaire. The results of the research will be presented in the following chapter.

CHAPTER FOUR - PRESENTATION OF THE DATA ANALYSIS

This chapter will present the findings and statistical analysis of the data obtained from this research project. The instrument was designed to measure the drinking behaviors, environmental perceptions and the general knowledge of the effects of alcohol among the occupants of twelve residence hall floors at Iowa State University during the 1982-83 academic year.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the impact of a comprehensive alcohol education program series on both individual drinking patterns and on the perceptions students have of their living environment. The pre and post-test survey data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) with the assistance of the Research Institute for Studies in Education (RISE) at Iowa State University and the comupter center at Southeast Missouri State University.

Information is included in this chapter on the sample, item frequencies, factor analysis and the statistical testing of each of the hypotheses.

Sample

The sampling procedure developed for this project generated a pre-test sample of 799 students and a post-test sample of 713 students. The discrepancy between the pre and post test sample size presented in Table I was caused by the normal attrition and vacancies on the residence hall floors at the end of the year. There was no follow-up

with pre-test respondents who moved off of the floor during the year.

Due to a lack of involvement in the programming these students'

responses would not have contributed to the purpose of this study.

The pre and post test sample size and the rates of return by residence hall complex are displayed in Table 1.

Table 1: Sample size and distribution of respondents by residence hall complex

	Pre-	Pre-Test					Post-Test			
	Samp	Sample		Return		Sample		Retu	Return	
	N	7	N	%		N	%	N	%	
UDA	276	34.5	116	27.4		248	35.0	67	24.2	
RCA	263	32.9	154	36.4		233	32.6	117	42.4	
TRA	260	32.6	148	35.0		232	32.4	50	18.0	
NO RESPONSE			5	1.2				42	15.4	
										
TOTAL	799	100.0	423	100.0		713	100.0	276	100.0	
TOTAL	799	100.0	423	100.0		713	100.0		276	

The return rate from the pre-test sample was 54 percent, and for the post-test 39 percent. In the pre-test 141 respondents (33.5 percent). In the post-test, 31 (15.6 percent) of the sample were under 19. The legal drinking age in Iowa is 19.

The distribution of the sample population by sex is presented in Table 2 for the pre and post test populations.

Table 2: Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by sex

	Pre-1	Cest	Post-	-Test
	N	%	N	7
Male	213	50.4	111	40.2
Female	208	49.2	161	58.3
No Response	2	0.4	4	1.5
TOTAL	423	100.0	276	100.0

A majority (67 percent) of the respondents in both the pre and post-test sample were underclassmen (freshmen and sophomores). Although this may not be representative of the I.S.U. student population, it is representative of the residence hall population at I.S.U. The distribution of the pre and post test samples by classification is presented in Table 3.

Table 3: Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by academic classification

	Pre-Te	est	Post-	lest
	N	%	N	%
shmen	176	41.6	103	37.3
homore	111	26.2	84	30.4
ior	82	19.4	50	18.2
ior	48	11.3	35	12.7
duate	2	0.5	0	0
Response	4	1.0	4	1.4
AL	423	100.0	276	100.0

The distribution of the respondents by floor type was even in the pre-test sample. In the post-test, however, the percentage of respondents from female floors was much higher than the percentage from co-ed and male floors. The 42 non-respondents may have skewed the distribution of the floor types in the post-test and some variation may have occurred due to changes in classification at the semester. Table 4 presents a breakdown of respondents by residence hall floor type.

Table 4: Distribution of pre and post-test respondents by floor types

	Pre-1	est	Post	-Test
	N	%	N	%
Male	133	31.4	57	20.6
Female	155	36.6	117	42.7
Co-ed	132	31.3	60	21.7
No Response	3	0.7	42	15.0
			<u> </u>	
TOTAL	423	100.0	276	100.0

The percentage of students who reported participating in the alcohol education programs nearly tripled from the pre-test to the post-test from 13.9 percent to 38 percent. Table 5 presents the distribution of respondents who reported that they had participated in the programs. Because the students on the control floors were not exposed to the programs, it can be assumed that nearly all of the increase can be attributed to participation by members in the treatment group.

Table 5: Distribution of pre and post-test respondents who participated in alcohol education programs

	Pre-	-Test	Pos	t-Test
	N	%	N	7
Yes	56	13.2	105	38.5
No	365	86.3	166	60.1
No Response	2	0.5	5	1.4
TOTAL	423	100.0	276	100.0

Non drinkers response

In both the pre-test and the post-test samples approximately 88 percent of the population reported themselves as drinkers, with 12 percent of the respondents reporting themselves as non-drinkers. The non-drinkers reported a variety of reasons for choosing not to drink. Table 6 shows the distribution of non-drinkers reasons for not drinking in the pre-test and post-test samples. The majority of respondents indicated they chose not to drink because they do not enjoy the taste, while religious reasons were listed the least often among both groups.

Table 6: Pre and post-test distributions of reasons why non-drinkers chose not to drink

	Pre-	Test	Post-Test		
	N	%	N	%	
Do Not Enjoy Taste	31	64.2	24	68.0	
Negative Physical Effects	9	19.2	7	20.0	
Religious Reasons	4	8.3	3	9.0	
Other	4	8.3	1	3.0	
	_				
TOTAL	48	100.0	35	100.0	

In both the pre and post-test samples, a majority of the respondents (63.7 and 71 percent) indicated that they felt some degree of pressure from other floor members to drink. The majority (64.5 percent) felt that there were adequate alternatives to drinking at ISU.

Drinkers response

Among the drinking respondents, beer was by far the drink of choice, being used more frequently and consumed in greater quantities than wine or liquor. These results support the findings of similar studies in this area and are representative of college-age populations. Table 7 indicates the alcoholic beverages used most often for the pre-test and post-test samples.

Table 7: Distribution of alcoholic beverages used most often by the pre and post-test respondents

	Pre-Test		Post-Test		
	N	%	N	%	
Beer	278	73.5	163	67.0	
Wine	20	5.2	27	10.3	
Liquor	81	21.3	56	22.7	
					
Total	379	100.0	246	100.0	

Within the pre-test sample the majority of respondents (55.3 percent) indicated they drank beer at least once a week, with 6.4 percent stating they drank beer once a day. Among the post-test respondents, 47.9 percent stated they consumed beer at least once a week while 2.2 percent indicated that they drank it at least once a day.

In both the pre and post-test, the majority (56 percent and 51.4 percent indicated they drank more than three beers at a time with 13.7 percent in the pre-test and 5.8 percent in the post-test consuming more than six at a time.

The predominant reason for using alcohol appears to be for social reasons. In the pre and post-tests, little difference occurred (67.6

versus 67.1 percent) in the rate of respondents who indicated they occasionally drank to be sociable. Approximately the same percentage indicated they frequently or occasionally drank in large mixed groups. In the pre-test, 37.4 percent of the respondents indicated that 3-5 times per month they attended a party at which alcohol was served. In served. In the post-test 33 percent said they followed a similar pattern.

To the question "How often do you drink to get drunk" 32.8 percent in the pre-test and 34.8 percent in the post-test indicated that they frequently or occassionally did.

In both the pre and post-test samples, the majority of respondents (49.2 percent and 59.4 percent) indicated "Present Lifestyle" as the major factor influencing their current use of alcohol which indicates that the college lifestyle and experience may be influential in determining the type of drinking behaviors and alcohol use a student exhibits.

Table 8 indicates the distribution of the responses to the question "When did you begin drinking in high school or college?". The responses are fairly evenly distributed with no classification being significant as a key year to begin drinking.

Table 8: Pre-test distribution of year in school when respondent began drinking

	High	School	Coll	ege
	N	%	N	7.
eshmen	73	26.2	47	27.0
phmore	82	29.3	36	20.6
nior	68	24.3	42	24.2
nior	56	20.2	49	28.2
tal	279	100.0	174	100.0

It appears that a larger percentage of respondents began using alcohol in high school with more students beginning in their freshman and sophomore years. In college, the distribution was a little more even with slightly more respondents beginning their use of alcohol in the freshmen and sophomore years.

The post-test responses to the question appeared to be somewhat skewed. For the post-test questionnaire, the format of the question was broken into two parts in order to make the question more compatible with the computer scan sheet. In the post-test, 123 (44 percent) of the respondents indicated they began drinking in their freshman year of

college. The question may have been interpreted to mean "when was the first year you drank in college?"

In an effort to determine how many freshmen indicated they began drinking in their freshman year, a cross-tabulation was run for current classification and the year the respondent stated they began drinking.

Table 9 indicates the results of the test.

Table 9: Cross tabulation of classification and year in college in which respondents reported beginning drinking

		FR	SO	JR	SR
		YR	YR	YR	YR
	FR	56	0	0	0
	SO	40	6	0	0
	50	40	Ū		v
	JR	16	5	2	0
	SR	11	5	5	3
		*			

The number of post-test respondents who reported an increase in their drinking behavior during the year of the study was 77 (28 percent). Seventy-nine (28.7 percent) indicated a decrease in their drinking behaviors and 89 (32.4 percent) indicated their drinking behaviors had remained the same.

The responses to the general knowledge section of the questionnaire in the pre and post-tests showed no major increases in the understanding of the effects of alcohol from the pre-test to the post-test. Table 10 indicates the distribution of responses to the correct answers in the pre and post-test.

Table 10: Pre-test and post-test frequencies to correct responses in the general knowledge section

	Pre-Test		Post-	
	Corre Respo		Corr Respo	
	response		vesho	1136
	N	%	N	%
Milk Slows Absorption	143	33.8	96	34.8
Alcohol Can't Cause Weight Gain	385	91.0	249	90.27
Alcohol is a Stimulant	341	80.6	222	80.4
Alcohol is a Drug	377	89.1	250	90.6
Blood Count of .1% is Illegal	272	64.3	192	69.6
Can't be Alcoholic With Beer	395	93.4	259	93.8
Moderate Drinking Not Harmful	191	45.2	139	50.4
Takes as Many Hours as Drink to burn up Alcohol	209	49.4	157	56.9
Beer Contains 2-6% Alcohol	323	76.4	207	75.0
Eating Doesn't Slow Absorption	344	81.3	239	86.6
Coffee or Cold Shower Helps Sober Up	333	78.7	226	81.9

There thus seems to be little difference between the pre and post-test correct response rate.

Findings Related to the Hypotheses

The statistical procedures for testing the hypotheses and the findings are discussed in this section. The .05 level of significance was the standard for the rejection level of all of the hypotheses. Hypotheses 1 thru 6 utilized the pre-test population for determining significance. The pre-test population was chosen because this population was most representative of the normal student population at ISU, and had not been influenced by the alcohol education program series. Hypotheses 7 thru 10 analyzed differences between the pre and post test populations. Hypotheses 11 and 12 utilized a matched pair analysis for testing the level of significance. The results of these tests are discussed below.

H1: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between male and female students residing in University Residence Halls at Iowa State University.

A T-Test statistical analysis was used to test this hypothesis.

The drinking composite scores for all male and female pre-test respondents were used. In all, 411 respondents (207 male and 204 female) were used. The mean composite scores were 21.85 for males and 19.98 for females. This score reflects the combined mean response tabulation from questions 15 to 23 in the survey instrument. Table 11 presents the results of the analysis.

Table 11: T-test of the differences between male and female mean drinking composite scores

	Number of			T
Variable	Cases	Mean	S.D.	Value
Group I Male	207	21.85	8.955	2.21*
Group II Female	204	19.98	8.173	

^{*}Significant at .05 level

The T-Value of 2.21 indicates a significant difference in the reported drinking behaviors between males and females, with males drinking more. The null hypothesis was therefore rejected. This supports other research which also indicates significant differences in the drinking patterns of males and females.

H2: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between students living in high-rise and low-rise residence halls.

The T-Test statistical procedure was chosen to analyze the differences between the pre-test mean drinking composite scores for the high-rise and low-rise student sample. Table 12 shows the results of the T-Tests comparing the mean drinking composite scores for high-rise and low-rise students.

Table 12: T-test of mean drinking composite score differences between high-rise and low-rise residence hall students

	Comp Score	<u> </u>		T
Variable	N	Mean	S.D.	Value
High Rise	197	21.436	8.3	1.26
Low Rise	213	20.366	8.9	1.20

The T-Test revealed no significant difference (T=.210) between the mean composite scores for the two groups. This may indicate that the architectural differences between high rise and low rise buildings have no impact on alcohol consumption. These findings conflict with those of Valins and Baum (1973), although none of their studies specifically addressed alcohol-related behaviors. However, the results of the analysis of Hypothesis eight indicates that residents in low-rise buildings experienced significant reduction in alcohol use over the test period. Thus indicating that architectural factors may have prolonged influences on alcohol use. The initial differences at the beginning of the year between high-rise and low-rise responses were not significant and therefore Hypothesis two was not rejected.

H3: There will be no significant difference in the mean drinking composite scores between students residing in single-sex living units and students residing in co-ed living units.

A T-Test statistical analysis was used to compare the mean drinking composite scores of students living in single sex living units and students living in co-ed living units. Table 13 presents the results of this analysis.

Table 13: T-test comparing mean drinking composite scores for co-ed and single sex living units

Variable	N	Mean	S.D.	T Value
Co-ed	128	25.16	7.57	3.66**
Single Sex	282	19.84	8.901	

^{**}Significant at .01 level

The results revealed a significant difference between the mean pre-test scores for single sex and co-ed living units. Students living in co-ed units reported heavier drinking patterns than students living in single sex units. Therefore, the hypothesis was rejected.

The distribution of the response sample indicates a rate similar to the co-ed, single sex rates in the over-all sample. Co-ed living environments thus seem to foster heavier alcohol use among the residents of these floors.

H4: There will be no significant correlation between student grade point average and student drinking behaviors.

A Pearson Correlation Coefficient statistical analysis was used to test the relationship between the reported pre-test student grade point average and student drinking behaviors. Table 14 presents the results of this analysis.

Table 14: Pearson Correlation Coefficient analysis of relationship between G.P.A. and student drinking behaviors

Variable	Cases	М	S.D.	Correlation
G.P.A.	255	3.074	1.049	0974
Comp Score	413	20.93	8.65	p=.060

The correlation between G.P.A. and drinking behaviors was -.0974 with a p value for the 255 matched cases of .060. There was not a significant relationship indicated between G.P.A, and drinking behaviors. The hypothesis is therefore not rejected.

H5: There will be no significant relationship between student

classification (year in school) and student drinking behaviors.

An analysis of variance procedure was used to test this hypothesis.

Table 15 shows the results of this test. The test was run using the mean pre-test composite score for each classification. These mean scores were tested using the analysis of variance procedure.

Table 15: Analysis of variance between student classification and mean drinking composite scores

				Significance		
Source of Variation	SS	DF	M.S.	F	of F	
Main Effects	368.857	4	92.214	1.258	.286	
Classification	368.857	4	92.214	1.258	.286	
Explained	368.859	4	92.215	1.258	.286	
Residual	29620.008	404	73.317			
Total	29988.867	408	73.502			

The F value of .286 does not fall into the .05 rejection range. Therefore the hypothesis was not rejected. This indicates that there are no significant differences in drinking behaviors between freshmen, sophomores, juniors and seniors. This would support the findings that the drinking patterns between freshmen and seniors are converging. This may also be influenced by the 19 year old drinking age in Iowa, which would make alcohol more accessible to all classifications.

H6: There will be no significant correlation between student employment and student drinking behaviors.

A T-Test statistical analysis was used to compare the mean pre-test drinking composite scores between students who held part-time jobs and those who did not. Table 16 presents the results of the analysis. The

The p-value of .231 would indicate that there is no significant difference in the drinking behaviors, and therefore the hypothesis was not rejected.

Table 16: T-test of drinking composite score means and part-time employment

	Comp	Score			
Variable	N	Mean	S.D.	T-Value	
Employed	114	20.09	8.8	1.20	
Not Employed	296	21.23	8.5	1.20	

The aspect of holding a part-time job while attending college does not appear to have a significant impact on the type of drinking behaviors a student adopts.

H7: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in high-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

A T-Test statistical analysis was used to compare the mean pre and post test drinking composite scores for students who resided in high-rise residence halls. Only those students who completed both the pre and post test survey were utilized in the study. Table 17 shows the results of the T-Test.

Table 17: T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in high-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

Variable	N	М	S.D.	T-Value
Pre-Test		22.33	4.127	
	48			.60
Post-Test		22.08	4.399	

Although there was a reduction in the mean drinking composite score (22.33 to 22.08), the change was not significant. Therefore, the hypothesis was not rejected.

H8: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in low-rise residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

A T-Test analysis was utilized to test the hypothesis. The mean pre and post-test composite scores were compared for those students who resided in low-rise residence halls and completed both surveys. Table 18 displays the results of this analysis.

Table 18: T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students residing in low-rise residence halls

Variable	N	М	s.D.	T-Value
Pre-Test		22.80	4.70	
Post Test	63	21.68	4.69	2.41*

^{*}Significant at .05 level

The 2.41 T-value thus indicates a significant change in the mean scores from the pre-test to the post-test. As in the high-rise scores, the mean scores were lower in the post test. However, the results to this test were significant, so therefore the hypothesis was rejected.

The environmental differences between high rise and low rise residence halls may thus have been contributing factors in the greater mean score change from the pre-test to the post-test.

H9: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite scores for students residing in single sex units during the 1982-83 academic year.

A T-Test analysis was used to test this hypothesis. The mean pre and post test composite scores were compared for those students who resided in single sex units and completed both the pre and post test survey. Table 19 indicates the results of this analysis.

Table 19: T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in single sex residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year

Variable	N	M	S.D	T-Value
Pre-Test		21.96	4.37	
Post-Test	82	21.69	4.73	.78

The results indicate that there was not a significant change in the mean drinking composite score from the pre-test to the post-test.

Therefore, the hypothesis was not rejected.

H10: There will be no significant change in the mean drinking composite score for students residing in co-ed residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

A T-Test analysis was used to test this hypothesis. The mean pre and post-test composite scores for those students who resided in co-ed living units were compared. Only those students who completed both surveys were used in the analysis. Table 20 shows the results of this analysis.

Table 20: T-test of pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores for students living in co-ed residence halls during the 1982-83 academic year.

Variable	N	M	S.D.	T-Value
Pre-Test		24.413	4.23	
Post-Test	29	22.31	4.05	2.98*

^{*}Significant at .05 level

The results indicate a significant reduction (24.413 to 22.31) in the mean composite scores for students living in co-ed halls during the 82-83 academic year. Therefore, the hypothesis was <u>rejected</u>. Some caution however should be taken when interpreting these results due to the low response rate.

Hil: Participation in a comprehensive alcohol education program series sponsored by the alcohol education office at I.S.U. will have no significant effect on student perceptions of the six environmental characteristics chosen from the University Residence Environment Scale.

A paired-t statistical analysis was utilized to test this hypothesis. The pre and post-test mean scores for the six environmental characteristics chosen from the URES instrument were tested for both the treatment and control groups. Table 21 presents the results of this analysis.

Table 21: Presentation of t-test results comparing pre and post test URES mean scores for the treatment and control groups

		Trea	tment	******	**	Con	rol		
		N	Mean	S.D.	T	N	Mean	S.D.	T
	Pre		9.1210	1.926			8.98	1.72	
Involvement		41			2.22*	56			2.36*
	Post		9.8780	2.052			9.48	1.68	
	Pre		5.43	1.32			5.32	1.19	
Support		41			2.68*	64			0.38
	Post		6.0	1.44			5.39	1.29	
	Pre		10.23	1.93			9.52	1.68	
Aca Achv		42			0.08	59			0.00
	Post		10.26				9.52	1.71	
	Pre		7.14	1.35			7.33	1.53	· ,- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Ord Org		41			2.42*	63			0.21
	Post		7.70	1.80			7.28	1.56	
	Pre		4.93	.889			4.77	.85	1
Competn		45			1.76	63			0.23
	Post		4.68	1.019			4.74	.86	1
	Pre		2.86	.734			2.94	.71	1
TSO		44			0.17	58			0.45
	Post		2.84	.713			2.89	.71	8

^{*}Significant at .05 level

As indicated in the table, the treatment group had three environmental characteristics (involvement (t=2.22), support (t=2.68) and order and organization (t=2.42)) which had significant changes in the mean scores from the pre test to the post test. The control group had one characteristic, (involvement (t=2.36)) which had changed significantly.

In order to determine if participation in the program series influenced perceived environmental factors, an analysis of variance was conducted to examine treatment control differences within each of the six environmental categories. Of the six categories, only "support" was significantly influenced by the program series. Table 22 reveals the results of the analysis conducted for each of the six environmental categories.

Table 22: Analysis of variance for the six URES environmental characteristics within the treatment and control group

	DF	. F
Involvement	1	2.05
Support	1	6.68(*)
Academic Achievement	1	0.41
Order Organization	1	4.20
Competition	1	0.21
Trad. Social Orientation	1	0.02

^{*}Significant at .05 level

It thus appears that the program series had only limited effect on the environmental characteristics that were chosen for the study.

Therefore, the hypothesis was <u>rejected</u> only for the "support" category.

For the other environmental characteristics, the null hypothesis was <u>not</u> rejected.

H12: Participation in a comprehensive alcohol education program series at I.S.U. will have no significant effect on student drinking behaviors.

To test this hypothesis, a 2 x 3 factorial design was used. The dependent variable was derived by calculating the difference between the students' alcohol consumption levels at the beginning and at the end of the experiment.

The two levels of factor A, the independent variable, represented either participation or non participation in the programs. The three levels of the moderating variable, factor B, represented the floor typemale, female or co-ed. Factor B was included because earlier results indicated differences in the consumption levels between males and females.

The results indicate that neither program participation nor floor type had a significant effect on drinking behaviors. However, the interaction between these two variables created a highly significant effect on student drinking patterns.

Table 23 presents the results of the analysis of variance procedure that was conducted to test this hypothesis.

Table 23: Analysis of variance of difference between pre and post-test drinking composite scores for treatment and control group members controlling for floor type.

Variation Square Square Mean Effects 38.831 3 12.94 1.33 Participation 0.52 1 0.56 .06 Floor Type 37.96 2 18.97 1.95 2-Way Interaction 188.97 2 94.48 9.72*** Partfloor type 188.97 2 94.48 9.72*** Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71 Total 499.76 33 15.14	Source of	Sum Of	DF	Mean	F
Participation 0.52 1 0.56 .06 Floor Type 37.96 2 18.97 1.95 2-Way Interaction 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Partfloor type 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71	Variation	Square		Square	
Floor Type 37.96 2 18.97 1.95 2-Way Interaction 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Partfloor type 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71	Mean Effects	38.831	3	12.94	1.33
2-Way Interaction 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Partfloor type 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71	Participation	0.52	1	0.56	.06
Partfloor type 188.97 2 94.48 9.72** Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71	Floor Type	37.96	2	18.97	1.95
Explained 227.80 5 45.56 4.69 Residual 271.95 28 9.71	2-Way Interaction	188.97	2	94.48	9.72**
Residual 271.95 28 9.71	Partfloor type	188.97	2	94.48	9.72**
	Explained	227.80	5	45.56	4.69
Total 499.76 33 15.14	Residual	271.95	28	9.71	
	Total	499.76	33	15.14	

^{**}Significant at .01 level

The analysis of variance procedure thus revealed a statistically significant interaction within the independent and control variables as they affect the dependent variable composite scores. In order to further analyze this relationship, the following table displays the composite score pre and post test mean cell differences for each category.

Table 24: Mean cell differences between the pre and post-test drinking composite scores

	М	F	Co-ed	
TRT	-2.83	-1.00	-0.40	-1.53
Control	4.50	-0.57	-8.00	-1.21
	-1.00	-0.67	-3.25	-1.35
T-Value	-2.88**	-0.24	3.34**	

**Significant at .01 level

In order to determine the significance of the differences between the treatment and control group mean composite scores, a T-Statistic was calculated. Test results indicate highly significant differences between the treatment and control group scores for male (t=2.88) and co-ed floors (t=3.34). Participation in the program on female floors did not produce significant results (t=0.24).

As interpreted in Table 24 male program participants reported a decrease in drinking behaviors, whereas non-participants reflected a marked increase. For co-ed floor members, program participants reported a slight decrease in drinking behaviors. Whereas non-participants exhibited a marked decrease. There was no difference in the treatment and control groups for the female floor (t=0.24).

There thus appears to have been an significant influence on and treatment/control variables. Therefore, the hypothesis was rejected.

Summary of Findings

The pupose of this study was to determine the impact of an alcohol education program series on student drinking behaviors. Certain environmental characteristics were also examined in order to assess their impact on alcohol use.

The investigation revealed significant differences in the student drinking patterns between male and female floors and between single sex and co-ed floors. Male and co-ed floors both reported heavier drinking patterns. The mean drinking composite scores within low-rise buildings exhibited a significant reduction from the pre-test to the post-test. Co-ed residents also reported a significant reduction during the test period.

Although there were no significant differences in the consumption levels between high-rise and low-rise buildings, there were significant reductions in alcohol use by students within low-rise buildings during the test period. This could be an indication that certain architectural variables may have an effect on student alcohol use.

Other variables that were tested produced no significant results. There were no significant differences in consumption levels according to classification (year in school). Although other studies have found a classification difference, the lower drinking age in Iowa (19) may have contributed to a converging of behavior patterns between classifications. Student grade point average also did not prove to be a significant factor in determining consumption level differences.

The analysis indicated that the interaction between the floor environment and participation in the alcohol education program produced some significant influence on student drinking behaviors.

Independently, neighter of the two variables had a significant effect. This may indicate that the possibility exist to be able to influence alcohol consumption through planned programming intervention strategies which address environmental characteristics.

T-test results between the treatment groups indicated that three perceived environmental characteristics from the URES scale displayed significant changes in the mean scores from the pre-test to the post-test. These characteristics were involvement, support and order and organization. The control group had only one characteristic (involvement) which changed significantly. The analysis of variance conducted within the treatment and control groups indicated that only the support characteristic appeared to be influenced by the program series.

The results of this study may be limited and the data should be interpreted with caution. However, the results indicate that the interaction between alcohol education programming efforts and certain environmental characteristics may have an impact on student drinking behaviors. There also appears to be significant differences between the drinking behaviors on co-ed floors and single-sex floors, and between male and female floors.

CHAPTER FIVE - SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The university environment is composed of a variety of sub-environments that have considerable impact on students. One influential sub-environment is the residence hall area where students spend a large portion of their non-classroom time. Investigators have found that residence hall living environments play a significant roll in the development of the social networks and peer influences that affect student behavior including alcohol abuse.

As the consumption level of alcoholic beverages has increased on college campuses across the country, university administrators have attempted to address this problem by presenting information-related programs to students. The purpose of these programs has been to increase student understanding of the effects of alcohol and certain abusive behavior patterns. Evaluations of these programs generally have concluded that the programs have not been successful in altering student drinking behaviors. Research studies, cited in the review of literature, have reported that knowledge of alcohol does not affect student drinking behaviors. Variables that do influence alcohol consumption levels are the prevailing environmental values and characteristics within society and the institution.

Previous studies measuring programmatic impact generally have assessed single presentation programs. For the purpose of this study a more comprehensive "package" program was designed in an effort to have greater influence on the prevailing floor environment. The alcohol education program series was developed in cooperation with the Alcohol

Education Unit at Iowa State University. The program series provided students with comprehensive information about alcohol and its effects on behavior. The specific programs focused on the physical effects of alcohol, alcohol and the problem drinker, sexuality and alcohol, and alcohol and interpersonal relationships.

The intent of this study was to examine the impact of this program series on residence hall student drinking behaviors at Iowa State University. In addition, selected environmental characteristics were assessed to determine their impact on resident consumption levels. The data were analyzed and were statistically treated using pre-test, post-test and matched-pairs variables to determine the significance of the hypotheses. The programs were presented to a treatment group of six residence hall floors following a pre-test assessment of the twelve floors chosen for this study. The treatment and control groups each consisted of a male, female and co-ed floor from a high-rise and low-rise building. At the end of the programming sessions, a post-test was conducted on the sample. The participants in this study were selected from the residence hall student population during the 1982-83 academic year.

Findings

The study was designed to measure the impact of the program series on both individual student drinking behaviors and on each of the perceived floor environmental characteristics. Despite the limitations of the study as described in Chapter I, there were significant patterns

which emerged from the tests of the hypotheses. Of the twelve major hypotheses that were tested, six were significant at the .05 level. The results derived from the statistical tests of the hypotheses are listed below:

- 1. Hypothesis 1 tested the difference between the alcohol consumption levels for men and women in the pre-test sample. There was a statistically significant difference between the reported alcohol use for men and women. Results indicated that men consumed alcohol more often and in greater quantities than women. These findings were supportive of other research in this area, therefore Hypothesis 1 was rejected.
- 2. Hypothesis 2 tested the difference between the consumption levels for high-rise and low-rise residence hall students in the pre-test sample. There was not a statistically significant difference between the drinking patterns of students living in high-rise and low-rise residence halls. Hypothesis 2 was therefore not rejected. Although previous studies have indicated certain behavioral and attitudinal differences between high-rise and low-rise residence halls, no study has specifically addressed alcohol use so it is difficult to make a comparison of results.
- 3. Hypothesis 3 assessed the difference between the drinking patterns of students on single-sex and co-ed residence halls within the pre-test sample. There was a statistically significant difference between the drinking patterns within these areas. The results revealed a much higher consumption rate among residents of

- co-ed floors. Therefore, the Hypothesis was rejected.
- 4. Hypothesis 4 tested the relationship between student grade point average and alcohol use within the pre-test sample.

 There was no significant relationship between student grade point average and drinking patterns. Therefore, Hypothesis 4 was not rejected.
- 1. Hypothesis 5 assessed the relationship between student class level (year in school) and alcohol use within the pre-test sample. There was no significant relationship between these two variables. therefore, Hypothesis 5 was not rejected. This finding does not support the results of Hill and Bugen (1979) who found that sophomores had the highest consumption levels of all classifications. However, this could be an indication, as others have found, that age and classification drinking levels are converging.
- 6. Hypothesis 6 tested the relationship between part-time employment and alcohol use within the pre-test sample. There was not a significant relationship between alcohol use and employment. therefore, Hypothesis 6 was not rejected. This may indicate that students who have less free time and have a more regimented schedule portray similar drinking patterns to those students who are not employed.
- 7. Hypothesis 7 analyzed the difference in the pre and post test drinking behaviors for high rise students. There was not a significant change in the drinking behaviors among high-rise

- residents during the test period. Therefore, Hypothesis 7 was not rejected.
- 8. Hypothesis 8 tested the difference in the drinking patterns for low rise students in the pre and post test sample. There was a significant change in the consumption levels of students who resided in low-rise residence halls during the test period. Results indicated a drop in the mean alcohol composite score for low-rise residents. Therefore, Hypothesis 8 was rejected. This may be an indication that the different environmental characteristics which affected student attitudes in previous high-rise, low-rise studies had an impact on the low-rise population during the test period.
- 9. Hypothesis 9 analyzed the change in drinking behavior among single sex floor residents in the pre and post-test sample. There was not a significant change in the drinking behaviors among students who resided on these floors during the test period. The mean composite scores from the pre-test to the post-test exhibited little change (21.96 to 21.19). Therefore, Hypothesis 9 was not rejected. Drinking patterns within single-sex units thus appeared to be stable and remained constant throughout the year.
- 10. Hypothesis 10 tested the differences in drinking behaviors among co-ed residents in the pre and post-test sample. There was a significant change in the drinking composite scores among those students who resided on co-ed floors during the test period.

 Results indicated a marked drop in the reported drinking patterns of co-ed residents (from 24.41 to 22.31). Therefore, Hypothesis 10 was

- rejected. The environmental influence on the co-ed floors may have reduced the drinking patterns among the residents of these floors. This may be an indication that students who originally have a propensity for heavier drinking patterns are attracted to a co-ed environment. In addition, women who have been found to be more influenced by the environment, may have been affected by the males on the floor. This may have caused the higher original composite mean score.
- 11. Hypothesis 11 assessed the impact of the alcohol education program series on the treatment group. The matched-pairs analysis within the treatment and control group revealed a significant effect on only one of the six environmental characteristics within the treatment group during the test period. The variable "support" exhibited a significant difference within the treatment and control groups. The other five variables (involvement, academic achievement, order and organization, competition and traditional social orientation) exhibited no significant differences. Within the treatment group, three variables (involvement, support and order and organization) showed significant differences from the pre-test to the post-test. In the control group, only the involvement category showed a significant change during the test period, Hypothesis 11 was rejected for only the support category. For the other environmental characteristics, the null hypotheses were not rejected. It appears that the program series had only limited affect on the perceived environmental characteristics that were

selected for the study.

12. Hypothesis 12 tested whether participation in the alcohol education program series had an effect on student drinking behaviors. The matched-pairs analysis indicated that the interaction between the two variables created a highly significant effect on student drinking patterns. Independently, however, neither the program series nor the floor type had an effect. Findings revealed that there were significant differences in the mean composite scores between the treatment and control groups for male and co-ed floors. The male floors showed a reduction in drinking behaviors within the treatment group, whereas there was an increase in the control group. Among the co-ed sample, there was a reduction in both the treatment and control groups, with a much greater reduction within the control group. These co-ed floor results may be reflecting a biased response based upon the reaction to the Department of Residence questionnaire. Co-ed residents may have a greater sensitivity to perceived administrative influence, and therefore could have reacted more strongly to the questionnaire. The results still indicated a significant interaction between the aclohol program and the floor type. Therefore, Hypothesis 12 was rejected.

In summary, these findings indicate that although neither the program series nor the environment had a significant affect on student alcohol use, interaction between the two variables created a significant effect on drinking patterns. The combined impact of the

programs and the environment thus appeared to have an influence on student alcohol use. Among the males, there was a significant difference in the pre and post-test mean drinking composite scores with the treatment group exhibiting a decrease in drinking behaviors and the control group exhibiting an increase.

In the co-ed sample, there was a decline in the consumption level of both groups. Although it is difficult to explain the fact that the control group decreased more than the treatment group, it is gratifying to note a decline in both scores.

The pre-test results also revealed a significant difference between the alcohol use levels on male and female floors with males having a higher rate of consumption. There was also a significant difference in the drinking levels between co-ed floors and single-sex floors, with students living on co-ed floors reporting higher rates of use.

Based on these data, it appears that the interaction which takes place between the alcohol education programs and the environment may have some influence on student alcohol consumption. In addition, significant differences were noted between the drinking patterns on male and female floors, and between co-ed and single sex floors. This information should be of assistance to program planners and administrators in making decisions about student alcohol use.

Conclusions

Based on these data, several conclusions may be drawn from the results of this study. They are as follows:

- Differences exist in the student drinking patterns between male and female floors, and between single sex and co-ed floors.
 Men reported having heavier drinking patterns than women, and co-ed floors reported having higher alcohol consumption rates than single-sex floors.
- 2. Although there were no significant differences in the drinking behaviors between high-rise and low-rise residents, students in low-rise living areas reported a significant decrease in drinking behaviors during the time frame of the study.
- 3. The interaction between the effects of the alcohol education programs and certain floor environmental characteristics may have an influence on student alcohol use. Neither of these variables proved to be significantly influential by themselves. However, interaction of these two variables appears to have had some influence on student drinking behaviors.

Implications

The results of this study should be of assistance to university administrators in considering program planning and development that focuses on student alcohol use. Significantly different consumption levels were noted between some of the student sub-groups. The interaction between the environmental variables and the alcohol

education programs may have had an effect in changing student alcohol consumption. Taking this into consideration, program planners may benefit by addressing some of their efforts toward specific environmental and sub-group differences which may influence student alcohol use. The data suggest that programs can be designed to address the specific needs of residents within a particular environment or sub-group.

Residence hall administrators may use this information to plan programs which address influential characteristics within the environment. Different alcohol education programs should be designed for all-male floors and co-ed floors which had higher consumption levels in the study. Residents of high-rise buildings appeared to maintain higher drinking levels throughout the year and this should possibly be addressed as well.

In general, the results of this study indicate that there are specific differences within residence hall environments which affect student alcohol use. Effective alcohol education programming should address these differences in order to have a greater impact on student drinking behaviors. It is important that residence hall staff continually assess the environment within the residence halls and the effectiveness of their programming efforts in order to best address the needs of the students.

The results of this study are intended to be of assistance to residence hall administrators and alcohol education program planners in their efforts to solve the problem of student alcohol abuse. The

findings should provide an addition to the existing body of knowledge regarding the impact that residential living environments have on student drinking behaviors, and provide an impetus for incorporating alcohol education programming into environmental planning strategies.

Recommendations for Further Study

The results of the study suggest a need for further research in the following areas:

- 1. Institutions where policies prohibit the use of alcohol in student residence halls may exhibit differences is drinking behaviors and influences from the environment. Comparison of the results of these two studies would provide an indication of the effects of these policies and how they help or hinder responsible drinking behaviors.
- Programs designed to address specific sub-group differences
 (e.g., male, female, co-ed) need to be developed and studied.
- 3. Non-alcohol floor options should also be studied and compared. It would be of interest to assess and compare differences in the consumption levels, behavior patterns and environmental characteristics of students living on these floors.
- 4. Residence hall staff trainging programs often incorporate alcohol education information programs into the training of their staff. It would be of interest to study the affect that this type of training has on both staff drinking behaviors, and on the staff's ability to deal with alcohol-related problems.

5. Fraternity, sorority and off-campus drinking behavior should also be studied and comparisons made. It would be of interest to invesitgate the drinking pattern differences between residence hall students, fraternity and sorority group members and off-campus students.

LITERATURE UPDATE

The primary review of literature was conducted in 1982 prior to investigating the research questions addressed in the dissertation. Since the data analysis occurred over a three year period, the investigator reviewed the literature again to determine if any additional studies had been completed since 1982.

While there has been a considerable amount of popular literature relating to student alcohol abuse, there have been a limited number of substantive studies. Most of the research has focused on student consumption levels and drinking patterns. In comparison with the original review findings consumption levels appear to have remained stable. Hughes and Dodder (1983) conducted a study in Oklahoma, Texas and New England. They reported that alcohol consumption among students varied from 86.5 to 96 percent, with New England exhibiting a higher usage rate. The study also noted that males continued to drink more frequently and in greater quantities than females. Grade point average seemed to be associated with drinking behavior in all samples. In both Oklahoma and Texas, abstainers reported a higher grade point average than did drinkers, and the average decreased as drinking quantity and frequency increased.

Another study by Eddy (1983) found that 90 percent of the students sampled consumed alcohol with 35 percent indicating moderate or heavy drinking patterns. Eighty-two percent of the sample indicated that they did not experience pressure from their peers to drink.

The recent review of literature indicates that those involved in

planning alcohol education programs are shifting the focus and nature of their efforts to incorporate selected environmental variables. Howard Blane (1984) continues to indicate that all available evidence suggests that information-related programming is not effective in changing attitudes, knowledge or behavior. Blane recommends three approaches for more successful programming efforts:

- 1. Eliminate the "broad brush" approaches that focus on entire student bodies. Programmers need to concentrate resources on student groups who are most likely to have severe alcohol-related problems. He also advised that needs of students classified as "heavy drinkers" should be addressed. This includes about 20 percent of the student population.
- 2. Define more specific goals and procedures that are appropriate to the targeted population.
- 3. Programs reflecting the needs and values of the individual college environment should be developed.

In addressing student drinking problems, Conyne (1984) incorporated both environmental and programmatic variables into specifically designed programs for the alcohol abuser. In Conyne's sample, 92 percent of the population drank and 21 percent were classified as heavy drinkers. Beer was the alcoholic beverage used most often by the respondents. The heaviest beer drinkers tended to be single white males who were Greek or hall residents and who did not have a job.

Males reported experiencing greater drinking-related problems than females on 16 of the 17 areas addressed. Heavier drinking students

reported significantly more alcohol-related problems than did moderate or light alcoholic consumers. Half of the respondents reported feeling that there was strong pressure to drink on campus.

Conyne developed environmental strategies through a multi-level mass media campaign, multi-session educational programming and the implementation of a new alcohol policy. Pre-test/post-test data revealed little if any change in drinking behaviors within the treatment group when compared to the control group. Positive but small mean score differences were demonstrated on such variables as beer consumption and the acceptance of drinking only one or two drinks at a fraternity party. Virtually no differences were exhibited between the groups on most of the house environmental questions on the survey. These findings are supportive of the results of the investigator's study.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, C. N. & Campbell E. Q. (1968). Balance Forces and Environmental Effects: Factors influencing the Cohesiveness of Adolescent Drinking Groups. Social Forces, 46, 367-7.
- Astin, Alexander. (1978). Effects of College on Beliefs,
 Attitudes and Knowledge. New Directions for Education and Work,
 6, 73-80.
- Barker, R. G. (1968). Ecological Psychology: Concepts and Methods for studying the Environment of Human Behavior. Stanford, Calif.: University Press.
- Blane, H. T. (1982). College Responsible Drinking Programs are Questioned, by Ingalls, Z. Chronicle of Higher Education 25, 2.
- Blane, H. T. (1984) Campus Program called Ineffective in Ending Student Alcohol Abuse, by Ingalls, Z. Chronicle of Higher Education, 171, 31.
- Brand, Stephen & Schrager, Richard. (1984). Academic Achievement and Group Differences in Alcohol Use. Center for the Study of the College Fraternity Update, 6 (1), 1-4.
- Britt, D. W. & Campbell, E. Q. (1977). A Longitudinal Analysis of Alcohol Use; Environmental Conduciveness and Normative Structure.

 <u>Journal of Studies on Alcohol</u>, 38, 1640.
- Cahalan, D., Cisin I. H., & Crossley H. M. (1969). American Drinking Practices Monographs of the Rutgers Center of Alcohol Studies, 6.
- Chickering, A. W. (1969). Education and Identity. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Conyne, R. K. (1984). Primary Prevention Through a Campus Education Project Personnel and Guidance Journal, 62, 524-8.
- Cyochosz, Chuck. (1982). The Impact of a Voluntary Educational Program Tip it Lightly, Alcohol Awareness Week On the Drinking Attitudes and Behaviors of College Students.

 Journal of Drug Education, 12, 2.
- DeCoster, David, Engs, Ruth C., Larson, Ralph & McPherson, Phillip. (1976). Alcohol Awareness for College Students. Journal of College Student Personnel, 17, 5, 438-439.

- Delzelsky, T., Toohey, J. & Kush, R. (1981). A Ten year Analysis of Non-Medical Drug Use Behavior at Five American Universities. Journal of School Health, 51 (1), 51-55.
- Eddy, J. (1983). Residence Hall Alcohol and Drug Information Study. Journal of College Student Personnel, 24, 269-70.
- Engs, R. C. (1977). Drinking Patterns and Drinking Problems of College Students. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 38, 2144-2156.
- Feldman, K. A. (1971). Measuring College Environments: Some uses of Path Analysis. American Educational Research Journal, 8, 57-70.
- Feldman, K. A. & Newcomb, T. M. (1969). The Impact of College on Students (Vols. 1 and 2). San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Gallup Survey Conducted for the Charles Flattering Foundation. Vol. 1, No. 5, March, 1977.
- Gerst, Marvin S. & Sweetwood, Harvey. (1973). Correlates of Dormitory Social Climate. Environment and Behavior, 5, 440-464.
- Girdano, D. D. & Girdano, D. A. (1976). College Drug Use-A Five Year Survey. Journal of the American College Health Association, 25 (2), 117-119.
- Gonzalez, G. M. (1980). The Effect of a Model Alcohol Education Module on College Student Attitudes, Knowledge and Behavior Related to Alcohol Use. <u>Journal of Alcohol and Drug Education</u>, 25, No. 3.
- Gonzalez, G. M., & Kouba, J. M. (1979). Comprehensive Alcohol Education A New Approach to an Old Problem. NASPA Journal 16, 7-14.
- Gusfield, J. R. (1961). Occupational Roles and Forms of Enterprise.

 American Journal of Sociology, 12, 571-80.
- Harris and Associates Inc. Study No. 2355, Report Prepared for NIAAA, Winter 1974.
- Hashway, Robert M. (1979). The Expanded Individualized Prescription Instruction (EIPI System). Educational Technology, 19, 33-38.
- Hill, F. E., & Bugen, L. A. (1979). Survey of Drinking Behavior Among College Students. Journal of College Student Personnel, 236-243.
- Hinrichs, D. & Haskell, R. (1978). Drinking Behavior at a Small Liberal Arts College. Journal of College Student Personnel, 19 (6), 557-62.

- Holland, J. L. (1970). <u>The Self Directed Search</u>. Palo Alto, California: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Hughes, S. P. and Dodder, R. A. (1983). Alcohol Comsumption Patterns Among College Populations. Journal of College Student, 24, 257-264.
- Jensen, W., Poremba, G., Nelson, R., & Schwartz, R. (1980). Greek Alcohol Survey: Results and Analysis. University of North Dakota, Grandforks, N.D.
- Jessor, R. & Jessor, S. L. (1975). Adolescent Development and the Onset of Drinking: A Longitudinal Study. <u>Journal of Studies</u> on Alcohol, 36, 27-51.
- Jones, John D. (1971). Study of the relationship between the students socio-economic background and his freshman year in college. NASPA Journal, 8, 234-6.
- Krafft, J. (1979). Unpublished Study on Alcohol Use at Iowa State University. Office of Student Life, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- Kraft, D. P. (1976). College Students and Alchol The 50 plus 12 Project. Alcohol Health and Research World, Experimental Issue.
- Kuder, J., & Madson, D. (1976). College Student Use of Alcoholic Beverages. Journal of College Student Personnel, 17(2), 142-44.
- Miller, T. K., & Prince, J. S. (1977). The Future of Student Affairs San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Mills, Kenneth C. (1981). Guidelines for Alcohol Abuse Prevention on the College Campus: Overcrowding the Barriers to Program Success. Journal of Higher Education, 52, 399-414.
- Mills, Kenneth C., & McCarty, D. (1983). A Data Based Alcohol Abuse Prevention Program in a University Setting. <u>Journal of Alcohol</u> and Drug Education, 28, No. 2, 15.
- Moos, Rudolph H. (1979a). Student Physical Symptoms and the Social Climate of College Living Groups. American Journal of Community Psychology, 7(1), 31-43.
- Moos, Rudolph H. (1979b). <u>Evaluating Educational Environments</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Murray, H. (1938). Explorations in Personality. New York: Oxford Press.

- National Clearinghouse for Alcohol Information. (1976). The Whole College Catalog About Drinking: A Guide to Alcohol Abuse and Prevention. Washington D.C.: Superintendant of Public Documents, U.S. Printing Office.
- Rodgers, E. M. (1958). Reference Group Influences on Student Drinking Behaviors. Journal of Alcohol Studies, 19, 244-254.
- Sanford, N. (1966). Self and Society: Social Change and Individual Development. New York: Atherton.
- Sanford, Nevitt (1967). Where Colleges Fail; A Study of the Student as a Person. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Stern, G. (1962). The American College: A Psychological and Social Interpretation of Higher Learning. Environments for Learning, 17, 690-730.
- Strange, C. C., & Schmidt, M. R. (1979). College Student Perceptions of Alcohol Use and Differential Drinking Behaviors. <u>Journal of College Student Personnel</u>, 20, 73-79.
- Valins, S., & Baum, A. (1973). Residential Group Size, Social and Crowding. Environment and Behavior, 18, 421-439.
- Walsh, W. Bruce. (1975). Some Theories of Person/Environment Interaction. Journal of College Student Personnel, 16, 107-13.
- Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE) (1972). The Ecosystem Model: Designing Campus Environments, Boulder, Colorado: WICHE.
- Wilcox, Brian L., & Holohan, Charles J. (1976). Social Ecology of the Megadorm in University Student Housing. <u>Journal of</u> Educational Psychology, 68, 453-458.
- Williams, Robert L. (1970). Personality, ability and achievement correlates of scholastic attitudes. <u>Journal of Educational</u> Research, 63, 401-3
- Zirke, K. and Hudson, G. (1975). The effects of Residence Hall Staff Members on Maturity Development for Male Students. The Journal of College Student Personnel, 16,1.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many individuals whom I would like to acknowledge and thank for their assistance in helping me bring this project to fruition.

First of all, I would like to thank Dr. Larry Ebbers for his continuing guidance, support and patience over the past six years.

Steve McDonnell was a key to my success in this project, and the time and effort he spent is greatly appreciated. The Department of Residence staff at Iowa State also provided critical support for this project. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Richard Warren and Dr. Dan Robinson for their assistance and guidance.

Continuous support and votes of confidence were provided by the staff at Southeast Missouri State, where I am currently employed.

Special thanks go to Dr. Tom Lovett, Archie Sprengel, Linda Maddamma, and Sally Wood.

I would also like to acknowledge Larry Dietz and John Westefeld for their friendship and confidence during my academic career at Iowa State.

Finally, I would like to recognize the late Jim Krafft who helped me initiate the project and formulate the groundwork for its implementation.

APPENDIX A



Dear Residence Hall Student:

Welcome to the Fall Semester at Iowa State. I am an I.S.U. graduate student conducting an independent research project in conjunction with the Alcohol Education Program on how residence hall environments affect student drinking patterns and behaviors. I am asking for your assistance by completing the enclosed questionnaire.

The questionnaire is divided into four sections, plus a cover sheat asking for demographic information necessary for the study. The first section should be completed only if you do not currently drink alcoholic beverages. The second section should be completed only if you do drink alcoholic beverages. Section three, which everyone should complete, pertains to your perceptions of your residence hall environment and section four (everyone) asks questions about your current knowledge of certain facts about alcohol and its use.

The knowledge gained from this questionnaire depends entirely on your willingness to be thoughtful and honest in your answers. I would like to assure you that all information will be kept in confidence. I will not know your name, nor will I be able to associate your data with you. However, your responses now will be matched to your responses in another survey to be given later in the year. In order to do this, I will use the last four digits of your Social Security number as indicated on this questionnaire.

There are no right or wrong answers, but we do need to know which response best describes your perceptions and behaviors.

Your participation in the project is voluntary. However, I hope that you will be able to complete the survey and return it to your R.A. Your cooperation is appreciated.

Should you have any questions regarding the survey, you may contact me in writing care of the Alcohol Education Program in the Office of Student Life.

Sincerely,

Bill Zeller I.S.U. Graduate Student

Enclosure



Dear Residence Hall Student:

Last fall your house participated in the first phase of a research project designed to investigate student drinking attitudes and behaviors at Iowa State University. We are entering the final phase of our project and we are asking you to complete this questionnaire. Your responses will be used to determine how student activities and behaviors on your floor have changed since last fall.

I would appreciate your taking a few minutes to complete the enclosed questionnaire. If you did not complete the questionnaire last fall, your response now is still important in order to help assess the drinking pattern and environment on your floor. Please use the computer answer sheet provided. You will need to use a number 2 pencil to record your responses.

The last four digits of your Social Security number needs to be included on both your questionnaire and your answer sheet in the "space for student number" section.

I would like to reassure you that all information will be kept confidential. I will not know your name nor will I associate your responses with you. This research project is an independent study for my doctoral thesis and is not associated with the Department of Residence alcohol survey conducted in January.

Your participation in this project is greatly appreciated. After completing the survey, please return it and your answer sheet to your R.A.

Should you have any questions regarding the survey, you may contact me in writing through the Office of Student Life.

Sincerely,

Bill Letter

I.S.U. Graduate Student

Enclosures

103 PLEASE USE A #2 PENCIL

Demographic Information

Please write your responses in the space provided for questions A - F. The last four digits of your Social Security Number should also be included in the "Spaces for Student Number" section of the answer sheet.

Α.	Last four digits of your social security number
в.	Your College
c.	Your Residence Hall complex: UDA RCA TRA
D.	House
E.	Hall
F.	Age: 17 or under 18 19 20 21 22
	23 through 26 27 or over
	the remaining questions, use the computer scan sheet provided. Begin question #1.
1.	Sex: (A) Male (B) Female
2.	Class level: (A) Fresh. (B) Soph. (C) Jr. (D) Sr. (E) Grad.
3.	Grade Point Average: (A) below 2.0 (B) 2.0-2.49 (C) 2.5-2.99 (D) 3.0-3.49 (E) 3.5-4.0
4.	Do you have a part-time job? (A) Yes (B) No
5.	How many occupants are there in your room? (A) one (B) two (C) three (D) more than three
6.	Are you receiving any type of financial aid? (A) Yes (B) No
7.	Have you ever participated in one of the I.S.U. alcohol education program workshops or presentations? (A) Yes (B) No
8.	Have you ever participated in any other workshops or presentations on alcohol education? (A) Yes (B) No

Section I

If you drink alcoholic beverages, please go to section II.

If you do <u>not</u> presently drink alcoholic beverages, please answer the following questions.

- 9. For what reasons do you choose not to drink? (You may select more than one.)
 - A. do not enjoy the taste
 - B. negative physical effects
 - C. negative mental effects
 - D. religious
 - E. other (please list)
- 10. Do you feel pressure to drink from people living in your house?
 - A. never
 - B. seldom
 - C. occasionally
 - D. often
- 11. Do you feel a need to explain to others why you are not drinking?
 - A. never
 - B. seldom
 - C. occasionally
 - D. often
- 12. Do you believe people who do drink tend to have a lower opinion of those who don't drink?
 - A. yes
 - B. no
 - C. don't know
- 13. Do you think there are adequate, healthy alternatives to drinking at I.S.U.?
 - A. yes
 - B. no
 - C. don't know

Please turn to Section III.

Section II

The following questions refer to your use of alcohol. Please respond honestly and accurately to each question.

- 14. What kind of alcoholic beverages do you drink most frequently?
 - A. beer
 - B. wine
 - C. liquor or spirits (whiskey, gin, vodka, etc.)
- 15. How often, on the average, do you usually have a beer?
 - A. every day
 - B. at least once a week but not every day
 - C. at least once a month but less than once a week
 - D. more than once a year but less than once a month
 - E. once a year or less
- 16. When you drink beer, how many cans or glasses, on the average, do you usually drink at any one time?
 - A. less than 1
 - B. 1-2
 - c. 3-4
 - D. 5-6
 - E. over 6
- 17. How often, on the average, do you usually have wine?
 - A. every day
 - B. at least once a week but not every day
 - C. at least once a month but less than once a week
 - D. more than once a year, but less than once a month
 - E. once a year or less
- 18. When you drink wine, how many glasses, on the average, do you usually drink at any one time?
 - A. less than one
 - B. 1-2
 - C. 3-4
 - D. 5-6
 - E. over 6
- 19. How often, on the average, do you usually drink liquor or spirits (whiskey, gin, vodka, etc.)?
 - A. every day
 - B. at least once a week but not every day
 - C. at least once a month but less than once a week
 - D. more than once a year but less than once a month
 - E. once a year or less

20.	When you drink liquor, how medrink at any one time?	any dri	nks (d	or 1 oz.	shots)	do you usually
	A. less than 1 B. 1-2 C. 3-4 D. 5-6 E. over 6	·				
0ver	the past month, estimate the	number	of t	imes you	drank	the following:
21.	12 oz. cans of beer	none A	1-4 B	<u>5-15</u> C	16-40 D	over 40 E
22.	6 oz. glasses of wine	A	В	C	D	E
23.	mixed drinks (1 oz. shots)	A	В	C	D .	E

24. On the average, how many times per month do you attend parties where alcoholic beverages are consumed?

- A. 0
- B. 1
- C. 2
- D. 3-5
- E. over 5

25. Do you feel pressure to drink at parties and other social occasions where others are drinking?

- A. yes, always
- B. yes, sometimesC. yes, but seldom
- D. no

26. Do you ever feel pressure from members of your house to drink alcoholic beverages?

- A. yes
- B. no

27. Do members of your house often drink prior to a party or social function?

- A. yes B. no

The following are common results of drinking alcohol that other students have reported. If you currently drink or have drunk in the past, select the category corresponding to the frequency of occurrences during the past three months.

past	three months.		1-3	4-8	9 - 16	
28.	Have had a hangover	Never A	times B	times C	times D	More E
29.	Have gotten nauseated and vomited from drinking	A	В	C	D	E
30.	Have driven a car after several drinks	A	В	C	D	E
31.	Have gone to class after having several drinks	A	В	C	D .	E
32.	Have missed a class because of a hangover	A	В	С	D	E
33.	Have had trouble with the law because of drinking	A	В	C	D	E
34.	Have gotten into trouble with school administration because of behavior resulting from drinking too much	A	В	С	D	E
35.	Damaged property or other such behavior after drinking	A	В	С	ם	E
36.	Did not remember what happened while drinking	đ A	В	C	ם	E

Please indicate the frequency with which you drink in the residence halls when accompanied by each of the following groups.

37.	One person, same sex	Frequently A	Occasionally B	Seldom C	Never D
38.	One person, opposite sex	A	В	C	D .
39.	Small groups, same sex	A	В	C	D
40.	Small mixed groups	A	В ·	C	D
41.	Large groups, same sex	A	В	C	Д
42.	Large mixed groups	A	В	C	D
43.	Alone	A	В	C	D

How often do you drink for the following reasons?

		Frequently	Occasionally	Seldom	Never
44.	To facilitate study	A	В	C	D
45.	To get along better on dates	A	В	C	D
46.	To relieve fatigue or tension	· A.	В	C	D
47.	Sociability	A	В	C	D
48.	For aches and pains	A	В	C	D
49.	Enjoyment of taste	A	В	C	D -
50.	In order not to be shy	A	В	C	D
51.	For a sense of well being	A	В	C	D
52.	To escape disappointments	A	В	C	D
53•	To get high	A	В	C	D
54.	To get drunk	A	В	C	D

- 55. What factors have most influenced your current pattern of alcohol use?
 - A. your parents' example
 - B. pressure from your peers
 - C. your present lifestyle
 - D. the availability of alcohol
 - E. the financial situation
- 56. If you first began to use alcohol with regularity in high school, when did you start?
 - A. freshman year
 - B. sophomore year
 - C. junior year
 - D. senior year
 - E. I did not drink in high school
- 57. If you began using alcohol with regularity in college, when did you start?
 - A. freshman year
 - B. sophomore year
 - C. junior year
 - D. senior year
- 58. During this academic year, has your alcohol consumption:
 - A. increased
 - B. decreased
 - C. remained the same

Section III

We would like to know some of your perceptions about the residence hall in which you live. Please read each statement carefully and decide which statements describe your house and which do not. Although some responses may not clearly describe your house, please pick the most predominant pattern.

		<u>Yes</u>	No
59•	There is a feeling of unity and cohesion here.	A	В
60.	People here are concerned with helping and supporting one another.	A	В
61.	People here tend to check on whether their behavior is acceptable to others in the house.	A	В
62.	People around here hardly ever seem to be studying.	A	В
63.	The house officers function in a somewhat haphazard manner.	A	В
64.	People don't try to impress each other here.	A	В
65.	Around here studies are secondary to most activities.	A	В
66.	The jobs of house officers are not clearly defined.	A	В
67.	In this house there is a strong feeling of belong-ingness.	A	В
68.	Trying to understand the feelings of others is considered important by most people in this house.	A	В
69.	People here consider other types of social activities to be more important than dating.	A	В
70.	People here work hard to get top grades.	A	В
71.	House procedures here are well established.	A	В
72.	People here try to make others feel secure.	A	В.
73.	House activities are pretty carefully planned here.	A	В
74.	Most of the people in this house know each other very well	A	В
75.	The people here are often critical of others in the house.	A	В

		<u>Yes</u>	No
76.	In this house people don't try to be more "cool" than others.	A	В
77.	People around here tend to study long hours at a stretch.	A	В
78.	Meetings and activities follow a pretty regular schedule in the house.	A	В
79.	Students enforce house rules here.	A	В
80.	This is a rather apathetic house.	A	В
81.	Most people plan activities other than studying for weekends.	A	В
82.	Around here there is a minimum of planning and a maximum of action.	A	В
83.	People in the house often do something together on weekends.	A	В
84.	Around here people try to act in ways that will gain the approval of others in the house.	A	В
85.	Having exchanges and parties is a high priority activity in this house.	A	В
86.	People in the house who have lots of dates tend to let others in the house know.	A	В
87.	Around here people don't let studies interfere with the rest of their lives.	A	В
88.	There are a lot of spontaneous social activities here.	A	В
89.	People in this house tend to fit in with the way other people do things on the floor.	A	В
90.	Very few people participate in house activities.	A	В
91.	In the evening, many people in the house begin to study right after dinner.	A	В
92.	This is a pretty disorderly house.	A	В

Section III

We would like to know some of your perceptions about the residence hall in which you live. Please read each statement carefully and decide which statements describe your house and which do not. Although some responses may not clearly describe your house, please pick the most predominant pattern.

59•	There is a feeling of unity and cohesion here.	Yes A	No B
60.	People here are concerned with helping and supporting one another.	A	В
61.	People here tend to check on whether their behavior is acceptable to others in the house.	A	В
62.	People around here hardly ever seem to be studying.	A	В
63.	The house officers function in a somewhat haphazard manner.	A	В
64.	People don't try to impress each other here.	A	В
65.	Around here studies are secondary to most activities.	A	В
66.	The jobs of house officers are not clearly defined.	A	В
67.	In this house there is a strong feeling of belong- ingness.	A	В
68.	Trying to understand the feelings of others is considered important by most people in this house.	A	В
69 .	People here consider other types of social activities to be more important than dating.	A	В
70.	People here work hard to get top grades.	A	В
71.	House procedures here are well established.	A	В
72.	People here try to make others feel secure.	A	В
73.	House activities are pretty carefully planned here.	A	В
74.	Most of the people in this house know each other very well	A	В
75.	The people here are often critical of others in the house.	A	В

=.	This have many and how to be seen than 10	Yes	No
76.	In this house people don't try to be more "cool" than others.	A	В
77•.	People around here tend to study long hours at a stretch.	A	В
78.	Meetings and activities follow a pretty regular schedule in the house.	A	В
79.	Students enforce house rules here.	A	В
80.	This is a rather apathetic house.	A	В
81.	Most people plan activities other than studying for weekends.	A	В
82.	Around here there is a minimum of planning and a maximum of action.	A	В
83.	People in the house often do something together on weekends.	A	В
84.	Around here people try to act in ways that will gain the approval of others in the house.	A	В
85.	Having exchanges and parties is a high priority activity in this house.	A	В
86.	People in the house who have lots of dates tend to let others in the house know.	A	В
87.	Around here people don't let studies interfere with the rest of their lives.	A	В
88.	There are a lot of spontaneous social activities here.	A	В
89.	People in this house tend to fit in with the way other people do things on the floor.	A	В
90.	Very few people participate in house activities.	A	В
91.	In the evening, many people in the house begin to study right after dinner.	A	В
92.	This is a pretty disorderly house.	A	В

Section IV

Please respond to the following statements about alcohol. Do not guess.

	•			
93.		True	False	Unsure
	beverage will slow down the absorption of alcohol into the body.	A	В	C
94.	Alcoholic beverages do not provide weight increasing calories.	A	В	С
95.	Alcohol is usually classified as a stimu- lant.	A	В	С
96.	Alcohol is not a drug.	A	. В	C
97•	A blood alcohol concentration of .10% is the legal definition of alcohol intoxica- tion in most states in regard to driving.	A	В	С
98.	A person cannot become an alcoholic by just drinking beer.	A	В	С
99•	Moderate consumption of alcoholic beverages is generally <u>not</u> harmful to the body.	A	В	C
100.	It takes about as many hours as the number of drinks consumed to completely burn up the alcohol ingested.	A	В	С
101.	Beer usually contains 2-6% alcohol by volume.	A	В	С
102.	Eating while drinking will have no affect on slowing down the absorption of alcohol into the body.	A	В	С
103.	Drinking strong black coffee or taking a cold shower can be an effective way of sobering up.	A	В	С

Please return to your R.A. with your answer sheet inserted in your questionnaire.

APPENDIX B

Apartment 209 Cape Girardeau, MO 63701 July 22, 1982

Ms. Peggy Farris Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc. 577 College Avenue Palo Alto, California 94306

Dear Ms. Farris,

I am a doctoral candidate in Higher Education Administration at Iowa State University. I am currently developing my dissertation instrument, and would like to request authorization to use some questions from the University Residence Environment Scale for my research.

My research will be investigating the environmental impact of residence hall living environments on alcohol use and drinking patterns. I feel the URES instrument has been effective in assessing student perceptions of their living environments. Although I do not need to utilize the entire instrument, I feel two or three questions from each subscale would allow me to obtain the information I need for my research.

I will combine these questions with questions regarding student drinking behavior, attitudes and knowledge to determine the types of perceived environments which might be conducive to increased or high alcohol use.

The instrument will be distributed in the Fall to 750 students residing in university housing at Iowa State University. A post test will be conducted sometime during the Spring semester of 1983.

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely.

William J. Zeller

Apartment 209
Cape Girardeau, MO 63701
July 21, 1982

Ms. Peggy Farris Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc. 577 College Avenue Palo Alto, California 94306

Dear Ms. Farris,

I am a doctoral candidate in Higher Education Administration at Iowa State University. I am currently developing my dissertation instrument, and would like to request authorization to use some questions from the University Residence Environment Scale for my research.

My research will be investigating the environmental impact of residence hall living environments on alcohol use and drinking patterns. I feel the URES instrument has been effective in assessing student perceptions of their living environments. Although I do not need to utilize the entire instrument, I feel two or three questions from each subscale would allow me to obtain the information I need for my research.

I will combine these questions with questions regarding student drinking behaviors, attitudes and knowledge to determine the types of perceived environments which might be conducive to increased or high alcohol use.

The instrument will be distributed in the Fall to 750 students residing in university housing at Iowa State University. A post test will be conducted sometime during the Spring semester of 1983.

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

William J. Zeller

Lear Mr Zelle: I must know exectly when a question of ment your superior of the server of ment your request some you are making love copies of ment instance. I have been a sight for chipmentary on The ation.

Lencally Properties, Permissions Editor

11 Rivercrest Drive Apartment 209 Cape Girardeau, MO 63701 August 26, 1982

Ms. Peggy Farris Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc. 577 College Avenue Palo Alto, California 94306

Dear Ms. Farris.

This letter is in response to our recent conversation regarding my use of various questions from the University Residence Environment Scale for my research for my Doctoral Dissertation.

As you requested, the specific questions from the URES instrument that I will use are: 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 15, 16, 18, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28, 32, 38, 41, 42, 45, 46, 48, 49, 51, 56, 60, 61, 63, 64, 65, 66, 71, 73, 81, 86, 88 (34 questions total).

I hope this answers your question. I am looking forward to hearing from you soon.

Sincerely.

William J. Zeller

CONSULTING PSYCHOLOGISTS PRESS, INC. 577 COLLEGE AVENUE PALO ALTO, CALIFORNIA 94306

Mr. William Zeller 11 Rivercrest Drive Apt 209 Cape Girardeau, MO 6376!
L
In response to your request of August 26, 1982 permission is hereby granted you to reproduce 1500 copies of the 34 items (listed in your letter) from the URES to be combined in a questionnaire that you are preparing to gather data for your doctoral dissertation rese rch.
subject to the following restrictions:
(a) Any material used must contain the following credit lines:
"Reproduced by special permission of the Publisher, Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc., Palo Alto, CA 94306,
from The Unviersity Residence Environment Scale (publication)
by Rudolf Moos, PhD. and Marvin Gerst, PhD. Copyright 1974
Further reproduction is prohibited without the Publisher's consent."
(b) None of the materials may be sold or used for purposes other than those mentioned above.
(c) One copy of any material reproduced will be sent to the Publisher.
(d) Payment of a reproduction fee ofthree cents a copy
TCTAL FEE 545.00
Please remit without further notice and mail to my attention.
(e)
CONSULTING PSYCHOLOGISTS PRESS, INC.
By Date Permissions Editor
Peggy Ferris

11 Rivercrest Drive Apartment 209 Cape Girardeau, MO 63701 July 22, 1982

Ms. Peggy Farris Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc. 577 College Avenue Palo Alto, California 94306

Dear Ms. Farris.

I am a doctoral candidate in Higher Education Administration at Iowa State University. I am currently developing my dissertation instrument, and would like to request authorization to use some questions from the University Residence Environment Scale for my research.

My research will be investigating the environmental impact of residence hall living environments on alcohol use and drinking patterns. I feel the URES instrument has been effective in assessing student perceptions of their living environments. Although I do not need to utilize the entire instrument, I feel two or three questions from each subscale would allow me to obtain the information I need for my research.

I will combine these questions with questions regarding student drinking behavior, attitudes and knowledge to determine the types of perceived environments which might be conducive to increased or high alcohol use.

The instrument will be distributed in the Fall to 750 students residing in university housing at Iowa State University. A post test will be conducted sometime during the Spring semester of 1983.

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

William J. Zeller



STANFORD UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER

STANFORD, CALIFORNIA 94305 • (415) 858-3996

STANFORD UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE Department of Psychiatry Rudolf H. Moos, Ph.D., Professor Director, Social Ecology Laboratory

June 2, 1982

Mr. Bill Zeller C-1220 Wallace Wilson Complex Office Iowa State University Ames, Iowa 50010

Dear Mr. Zeller:

Enclosed are copies of the College Experiences Quesionnaire and our Health and Daily Living Form. Both contain measures of drinking behavior. I would also suggest you consult the following for additional ideas concerning measurement and conceptualization:

Cahalan, D. <u>Problem Drinkers</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1970

Donovan, J.E., & Jessor, R. Adolescent problem drinking: Psychosocial correlates in a national sample study. <u>Journal of Studies on Alcohol</u>, 1978, 39:1506-1524.

Jessor, R., & Jessor, S.L. Problem drinking in youth: Personality, social, and behavioral antecedents and correlates. In M.E. Chafetz (Ed.), Psychological and social factors in drinking: Proceedings, Second Annual Alcoholism Conference. NIAAA, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1973.

Jessor, R., & Jessor, S.L. <u>Problem behavior and psychosocial development:</u> A <u>longitudinal study of youth</u>. New York: Academic Press, 1977.

I am also enclosing several reprints from the educational environment project at the Lab.

Best of luck with your research.

Sincerely yours,

John W. Finney, Ph.D.

JWF:sf Encl.

INFORMATION ON THE USE OF HUMAN SUBJECTS IN KESEARCH

IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY (Please follow the accompanying instructions for completing this form.) Title of project (please type): The impact of residence hall living environment on student alcohol use and drinking patterns. I agree to provide the proper surveillance of this project to insure that the rights and welfare of the human subjects are properly protected. Additions to or changes in procedures affecting the subjects after the project has been approved will be submitted to the committee for review. William J. Zeller 9-24-82 Typed Named of Principal Investigator Signature of Principal Investigator 314-651-4378 11 Rivercrest Drive, Apt. 209 Gampus-Address Campus Telephone Cape Girardeau, Mo. Signatures of others (if any) Relationship to Principal Investigator ATTACH an additional page(s) (A) describing your proposed research and (B) the subjects to be used, (C) indicating any risks or discomforts to the subjects, and (D) covering any topics checked below. CHECK all boxes applicable. Medical clearance necessary before subjects can participate Samples (blood, tissue, etc.) from subjects Administration of substances (foods, drugs, etc.) to subjects Physical exercise or conditioning for subjects Deception of subjects Subjects under 14 years of age and(or) Subjects 14-17 years of age Subjects in institutions Research must be approved by another institution or agency ATTACH an example of the material to be used to obtain informed consent and CHECK which type will be used. Signed informed consent will be obtained. Modified informed consent will be obtained. Month Year Anticipated date on which subjects will be first contacted: _ 10 _ _ <u>82</u> Anticipated date for last contact with subjects: 5 83 If Applicable: Anticipated date on which audio or visual tapes will be erased and(or) identifiers will be removed from completed survey instruments: Signature of Head or Chairperson Date Department or Administrative Unit Decision of the University Committee on the Use of Human Subjects in Research: Project Approved Project not approved No action required

Date Signature of Committee Chairperson

George G. Karas

Name of Committee Chairperson

I hope everything is going well with you. I'm sorry I missed getting up there in February, but the blizzard kept me down here in Missouri.

As you know, I am now preparing to distribute the post-test survey for the research I began on your floor last Fall. My original plan was to conduct two post-tests. However, we have decided not to do this because of the recent controversy on campus over the alcohol survey conducted by the University in February. We felt the student attitudes might bias our results if we were to also do one in February.

At this time, I am planning on re-distributing my questionnaire during the week of April 11. I will be coming to Ames sometime in the beginning of April to meet with you again. I'll let you know in a few weeks when that will be.

Because this is the only post-test I'll be conducting, student cooperation will be very important to make sure we have meaningful results. I would appreciate your letting your residents know in advance that I am planning on having them complete the survey again. Please also reinforce that this is not in any way associated with the survey conducted in February by Iowa State.

I am confident that this process will go smoothly. I'm looking forward to seeing you again in April. Thank you for your continued assistance.

Sincerely.

Bill Zeller